Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rser

# Fighting global warming by photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using giant photocatalytic reactors

Renaud Kiesgen de\_Richter<sup>a,\*</sup>, Tingzhen Ming<sup>b</sup>, Sylvain Caillol<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institut Charles Gerhardt Montpellier – UMR5253 CNRS-UM2 – ENSCM-UM1–Ecole Nationale Supérieure de Chimie de Montpellier,

8 rue de l'Ecole Normale, Montpellier 34296 Cedex 5, France

<sup>b</sup> School of Energy and Power Engineering, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 November 2011 Received in revised form 12 October 2012 Accepted 14 October 2012

Keywords: CO<sub>2</sub> capture CO<sub>2</sub> reduction Photocatalysis Photocatalytic reactor Solar chimney power plant

# ABSTRACT

Over the last decades, fighting global warming has become the most important challenge humanity has to face. Therefore technologies of carbon dioxide capture, sequestration and recycling are equally important in order to tackle the global climate change stakes. Among recycling technologies, photocatalytic processes reducing  $CO_2$  with  $H_2O$  back to fuels or to other useful organic compounds, have the potential to be part of a renewable energy system. Indeed these processes can help to control  $CO_2$  emissions and eventually eliminate  $CO_2$  in excess.

This perspective paper describes a large size device, able simultaneously:

- to proceed to direct air capture (DAC) of CO<sub>2</sub>;
  - to transform part of it into useful chemicals, like hydrocarbons or syngas;
- and to produce renewable energy, thus preventing future CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

Synergies between solar chimney power plants (SCPPs) and semiconductor photocatalysis in order to create giant photocatalytic reactors for artificial photosynthesis are discussed, as well as scale economies for unconventional carbon capture directly from the atmosphere.

This paper presents a carbon negative emission technology obtained by coupling SCPPs with DAC systems which allows many scale economies, and also synergies to proceed to solar-to-chemical energy-conversion process by photocatalytic reduction of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> under sunlight.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

### Contents

1.	Introduction			
2.	2. Direct air capture (DAC) or dilute carbon dioxide capture from the atmosphere			
	2.1. Rationale for DAC			
	2.2. Comparing costs of DAC and CSS. Is the cost of air capture worth it?			
	2.3. Technical differences between DAC and CSS.			
3.	3. Interest of solar chimney power plants			
	3.1. Need to couple DAC with an energy carbon neutral source			
	3.2. Optimization of plant output			
	3.3. Base load and peak load			
4.	4. Rationale of coupling DAC with solar chimney power plants SCPPs			
	4.1. Synergies of SCPPs coupled with DAC			
	4.2. Scale economies of SCPPs coupled with DAC			
	4.3. Advantages of DAC under SCPPs			
	4.4. Proximity of SCPPs from disposal sites			
	4.5. Cost reduction potential of SCPP+DAC			
5.	5. Carbon dioxide recycling or artificial photosynthesis.			
	5.1. Interest of photocatalysis			
	5.2. Photocatalytic reduction of carbon dioxide			

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 4 67 52 52 22; fax: +33 4 67 14 72 20. *E-mail address*: renaud.derichter@gmail.com (R.K. de\_Richter).

<sup>1364-0321/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.10.026

	5.3.	Experim	nental conditions and yields of CO <sub>2</sub> reduction by photocatalysis	93	
		5.3.1.	Sequential reactions	93	
		5.3.2.	Temperature effect	95	
		5.3.3.	Wavelength effect	95	
		5.3.4.	Alkalinity effect	96	
	5.4.	Sensitiv	ity analysis of key parameters for SCPP+photocatalysis	96	
6.	Choice	e of expe	rimental conditions for large scale tests of photocatalysts	97	
	6.1.	Choice of	of the reaction type	98	
	6.2.	Choice of	of the reactor type	98	
	6.3.	Researc	h effort needed	98	
	6.4.	Extrapo	lation to large scale photocatalytic reactors and photocatalytic performance	99	
	6.5.	Synergie	es from SCPPs coupled with photocatalytic reactors	99	
	6.6.	Improvi	ng the choice of the PCR type	100	
		6.6.1.	Contact time and radiation effect	100	
		6.6.2.	Day and night overall performance	100	
	6.7.	Sensitiv	ity analysis of key parameters for photocatalytic reactors	100	
7.	Conclu	usion		101	
Ack	nowled	lgments .		102	
Ref	References				

### 1. Introduction

Carbon dioxide is increasing in the atmosphere due to deforestation and to fossil fuels use in industry and transportation, manufacture of cement, building heating and cooling.

With a global radiative forcing of  $1.74 \text{ W m}^{-2}$ , CO<sub>2</sub> is the largest contributor among well-mixed long-lived greenhouse gases, accounting for more than 63% of the total [1].

The potential of photocatalysis to mitigate or remove almost all global warming contributors like  $CO_2$ , methane  $CH_4$ , nitrous oxide N<sub>2</sub>O, chlorofluorocarbons (CFC-11, CFC-12 and other CFCs), tropospheric ozone O<sub>3</sub>, minor greenhouse gases GHGs (sulfur hexafluoride SF<sub>6</sub> and nitrogen trifloride NF<sub>3</sub>), and also black carbon or particulate matter [2] has been reviewed recently.

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) involves collecting and generating a highly concentrated steam of almost pure CO<sub>2</sub>, transporting and sequestering it in order to avoid atmospheric entry and contribution to climate change. CCS covers a range of technologies and techniques that hold the promise of catching up to 90% of the future CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from power stations and industrial sites. Once it has been trapped, CO<sub>2</sub> is purified and compressed to liquid, transported – often for several hundred kilometers – and then either buried in the ocean or in a geological formation suitable for sequestration (deep saline aquifers, disused coal deposit), or used for industrial purposes like enhanced oil recovery – which consists to pump CO<sub>2</sub> into an oil field to help extract more fuel – or transformed into mineral carbonates. The 2005 IPCC Special Report on CCS [3] provides a full description of these technologies.

Capturing  $CO_2$  at large point sources (flue gas at an operating coal fuel or gas fired power plant) where it is quite concentrated makes sense as the power plants and the industry emits, respectively, 41 and 17% of the  $CO_2$  [4]; however, it does not allow the capture of the  $CO_2$  emissions from the transportation sector (23% of the emissions) or from residential and commercial sectors (10%).

Direct air capture (DAC) of diffuse  $CO_2$  from ambient air is complementary with CCS and can deal with all types of emissions, even past ones. Maybe DAC can even be cheaper in some cases than to upgrade and retrofit the oldest conventional pulverized coal power plants and then transport the compressed  $CO_2$  to the storage or disposal site after building hundreds of kilometers of pipelines. Pipelines to transport the  $CO_2$  to suitable burial sites could cost more than \$1 million per mile [5]. Fig. 1a shows the  $CO_2$  emissions repartition from the different sectors (Source IEA [4]), and Fig. 1b shows the  $CO_2$  emissions growth from different sectors between 2000 and 2005 (source World Research Institute [6]).

Power plants do not account for all the  $CO_2$  emissions: from cars, boats, planes and others. In order to also take into account, these diffuse  $CO_2$  emissions DAC ideas and materials have been developed by several scientists like professors Zeman [7,8] and Lackner [9–11] from Columbia University in New York.

Probably new policy instruments will oblige new fossil power plants to install CCS. Current regulatory efforts and proposed legislation seek to reduce  $CO_2$  as well as make CCS necessary for highly pollutant industries or power plants if they do not want to buy carbon credits on the market.

Few innovative solutions to global warming induced by  $CO_2$ emissions have been proposed. This paper focuses in its first part on the goals of carbon capture and sequestration, storage (CCS) or transformation into useful products, in order to prevent the accumulation of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere by catching it and converting it back to fuels, or storing it safely and permanently. Then the second and third parts of this article discusses the interest of an unusual renewable energy device (i.e., solar chimneys power plants SCPPs) and of the synergies of performing  $CO_2$ capture directly from air with this SCPPs as many scale economies are feasible [12]. The interest of photocatalysis and the possibility to perform the reverse reaction of fuel combustion (i.e., artificial photosynthesis) in synergy with solar light under the SCPPs is then addressed in the fourth and fifth parts of this review.

# 2. Direct air capture (DAC) or dilute carbon dioxide capture from the atmosphere

# 2.1. Rationale for DAC

The process of DAC is very similar to the CCS process from concentrated  $CO_2$  in the flue stack of a power plant: An alkali component is needed to react with weak acidic  $CO_2$  in order to separate it from neutral gases (nitrogen N<sub>2</sub> and oxygen O<sub>2</sub>). Then a regeneration process is needed to liberate the almost pure  $CO_2$  from the salt formed and recycle the alkali component. Compression and liquefaction of  $CO_2$  is then performed for further transportation and underground storage. а



Global Carbon Dioxide Emissions from Fossil Fuel

Global CO, Emissions Growth in Select Sectors: 2000-2005



**Fig. 1.** (a): CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from different sectors (Source IEA [4]), (b): CO<sub>2</sub> emissions growth from different sectors (source World Research Institute [6]). *Source*: IEA from international Energy Agency, "Energy-Related CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions by

Source: EA from international Energy Agency, Energy-Related CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions by Sector in the Reference Scenario," Table 4.4, in world Energy Outlook 2009 (Paris: 2009), p. 185.

Both CCS and DAC costs can be split up into several items: initial equipment investment;  $CO_2$  capture with sorbents;  $CO_2$ release from sorbents; regeneration and recycling of sorbents; sorbent loss;  $CO_2$  compression; transportation of pressurized  $CO_2$ , geological sequestration; leakage monitoring, infrastructure maintenance; environmental impacts; and others.

# 2.2. Comparing costs of DAC and CSS. Is the cost of air capture worth it?

The main drawback of CCS is the energy penalty caused by the  $CO_2$  separation from other gases. It increases the  $CO_2$  avoided cost and is an important driving force to propose new and improved capture methods with lower energy requirements. In this paper the comparison focuses on the first part of the process: The  $CO_2$  capture, as it is assumed that some costs (compression, sequestration etc.) are identical for conventional CCS or DAC.

Recently, after a two-year study conducted by Socolow with a committee of 13 members [13,14] from academia, national or

government laboratories and industry, the American Physical Society (APS) released a technical assessment stating that: "it makes little sense to ignore the emissions of  $CO_2$  in the flue gas from a coal power plant while removing  $CO_2$  from ambient air where it is 300 times more dilute", and that " $CO_2$  capture from air (air capture) will cost at least US\$ 600 per ton  $CO_2$  avoided". Therefore DAC would "play a very limited role in a coherent  $CO_2$  mitigation strategy", as by using the same simplified costing evaluation methodology "the estimated avoided cost for 'post-combustion capture' of  $CO_2$  from the flue gas of a reference coal power plant is about \$80/tCO\_2".

For Ranjan [15,16] "a conservative estimate for the operating cost of direct air capture came out to be \$420-\$630/tCO<sub>2</sub>". This is only the cost of energy and does not take into account the capital cost of plants building. Such prohibitive mitigation costs let think that DAC cannot compete with other viable climate change mitigation options and for Ranjan cost estimates for DAC found in the literature are just not believable.

This estimates are considerably higher than the cost estimates by Keith [17,18]:  $140/t CO_2$ , or from Stolaroff [19] for whom the cost of capturing CO<sub>2</sub> with a complete system would fall between 80 and 250\$/t CO<sub>2</sub> using NaOH spray solution and he thinks this is a viable sorbent for large scale CO<sub>2</sub> capture. For Pielke [20], although cost assessment is not unambiguous, DAC deserves to be among the options receiving attention in the international climate policy debate. For the UK Institution of Mechanical Engineers [21], in the context of the margins of uncertainty, the costs of air capture and CCS seem to be of broadly similar magnitude.

The DAC system analyzed by the APS consisted in passing air over a solution of sodium hydroxide in a counter-current, closed system. The sodium carbonate formed is then cross-reacted with calcium hydroxide to form calcium carbonate as a precipitate. The solid calcium carbonate is then submitted to thermal decomposition with capture of the  $CO_2$  released. The reaction scheme is [7]:

NaOH (solution)+ $CO_2$  (air)  $\rightarrow$  Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (solution)+ $H_2O$  (1)

 $\begin{aligned} &\mathsf{Na}_2\mathsf{CO}_3 \; (\text{solution}) + \mathsf{Ca}(\mathsf{OH})_2 \; (\text{slurry}) \! \rightarrow \! \mathsf{Ca}\mathsf{CO}_3 \; (\text{precipitate}) \\ &+ 2 \; \mathsf{Na}\mathsf{OH} \; (\text{solution}) \end{aligned} \tag{2}$ 

$$CaCO_3 (solid) + heat \rightarrow CaO (solid) + CO_2 (gas)$$
 (3)

 $CaO (solid) + H_2O \rightarrow Ca(OH)_2 (slurry)$ (4)

The APS report estimated that to remove  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere as fast as a 1 GW coal plant emits it (about 6 Mt  $CO_2$  yr<sup>-1</sup>) such a system would have a total length of about 30 km (based on structures able to capture about 20 t  $CO_2$  yr<sup>-1</sup> for each square meter of frontal area, 10-m high structures, 2 m s<sup>-1</sup> air flow, with  $CO_2$  capture yield of 50%). Large quantities of construction materials (Fig. 2) and chemicals would be required and this is capital-intensive. The APS report "took into consideration a DAC with a capacity of 1 Mt  $CO_2$ /yr and estimated the capital cost to 2.2 billion dollars".

As an answer to the APS assessment [13], Climeworks [23] published a statement reminding that thermodynamics reveal that, while the  $CO_2$  concentration differs by a factor of about 300 between flue gas and air, the minimum energy required to extract pure  $CO_2$  differs only by a factor of about 3 [9]. According to Climeworks, their sorbent material achieves similar  $CO_2$  loadings in an air capture process as the state of the art sorbent materials achieves for  $CO_2$  capture from flue gases. Opposed to the reference DAC system analyzed in the APS report, their system requires more than 95% of its energy input in the form of cheap, low-temperature heat. And for the APS team the costs for DAC will not fall substantially through incremental improvements in current technology.

On the other hand Lackner [9] proposed a different technology where the energy causing the air to move through the contactor (a small part of the total energy requirement) can be provided by



Fig. 2. Keith's DAC facility ([22] US patent 2010/0064890).

the wind. Moreover, his devices, an air capture system called "artificial or synthetic tree", uses another capture technique in which the  $CO_2$ -sorbent interaction is weak and thus the sorbent regeneration and the  $CO_2$  release is much less energy consuming than for conventional CCS. Lackner estimates the financial cost of the technology to be \$206/t CO<sub>2</sub> for immediate small scale implementation; and to be around 30\$/t CO<sub>2</sub> after widespread mass production rollout. Indeed, the anticipated main economy of scale is based on the fall in the building costs of the units. Many other possible scale economies will be discussed later.

These "artificial trees" mimic the processes or emulate the action of natural trees by absorbing  $CO_2$  directly from the atmosphere using solid alkaline absorbents, relying mainly on wind to perform mass transport of air across absorbent. The absorbent is then regenerated by a low temperature process, releasing almost pure  $CO_2$ , and this step represent a technological breakthrough comparatively to current CCS for the same step as it requires smaller quantities of energy.

# 2.3. Technical differences between DAC and CSS

Indeed, the main difference between CCS and DAC comes from the costs of  $CO_2$  release and sorbent recycling and regeneration. For flue stack gas scrubbing, the fossil fuel power plants have to achieve a "carbon neutrality goal". For an almost zero footprint power plant, carbon capture yields need to be as quantitative as possible (commonly up to 90%), therefore currently used sorbents (generally liquid amines) bind very strongly to the  $CO_2$ , and, as a consequence, the energy required for releasing the  $CO_2$  and regenerating the sorbent is quite important. This is the driving cost of the CSS process.

Concerning DAC, there is no carbon capture yield goal, so 30 or 40% yield can be considered as "good enough". As DAC can be

done anywhere in the world, near disposal or sequestration locations, transportation of pressurized  $CO_2$  can be reduced to minimum and there is no need to build  $CO_2$  pipelines over long distances.

This reduced investment and transportation costs will probably give advantage to DAC over conventional CCS when regulatory constraints and binding rules will come into effect.

In the air,  $CO_2$  is quite diluted and is a fairly inert component. How is it possible to separate it from large volumes of atmospheric nitrogen and oxygen?

Solid sorbents in the form of alkali resin polymers (commercially available for water deionization) present a permanent positive charge on which CO<sub>2</sub>, a weak acid, can bind. The discovery by the Lackner team and his associates [24-26] that humidity can displace CO<sub>2</sub> from the resin, thus regenerating the sorbent, is the key of a new process referred by the authors to as "a moisture swing absorption system". Then the sorbent is dried and can again absorb CO<sub>2</sub> and start another DAC cycle. A first proof of the concept has been done in 2007 by the Georgia Institute of Technology and a commercial partnership called Global Thermostat [27,28]. A cost analysis has been carried out by the authors: the energy consumption for regenerating this solid sorbent represents a small part of the usual amount needed for CCS. According to Lackner and his partners, if mass production of the device was performed, costs of complete DAC could be reduced to nearly \$30/ton of CO<sub>2</sub> instead of the currently estimated \$100/ton with conventional CCS.

The overall process is described in Fig. 3 [29].

The plastic sheets made from dry alkaline resin are exposed to the wind flow and as air passes trough, the  $CO_2$  loads up on the resin until almost all sites have reached the acid-base salt state. The device is then isolated in a closed regeneration chamber where the air is pumped out. Then by wetting the resin and warming it up to 40–45 °C the captured  $CO_2$  is released, and the resin reverts to the base state. The concentrated  $CO_2$  which has been released will be pumped out and compressed into a liquid at more or less 70 atm depending on temperature. Compression also will force the residual water vapor to condense: it is withdrawn and reused. Once the resin has dried, it can begin absorbing  $CO_2$  again and a new cycle can start.

Energy consumption by the process machines is dominated by two steps. The first step consists in pumping the air out of the regeneration chamber. The second step, which demands far more energy, consists in compressing the  $CO_2$  from a fraction of an atmosphere to the pressure required to liquefy it, but this step is similar to conventional CCS. According to Lackner's calculations his DAC process collects five times more  $CO_2$  than it is generated by fossil power plants to provide its energy consumption.

Therefore the maintenance costs for DAC are reduced comparatively to CCS, as the alkali component regeneration is done under mild conditions compared to liquid amines that are warmed up to 100–140 °C in presence of numerous impurities or pollutants coming from the flue stack (NO<sub>x</sub>, SO<sub>x</sub>, soot, heavy metals, etc.).

A good sorbent should not only be cheap, but also should not escape from the capture system and should not be environmentally hazardous and should withstand many recycling loops. Degradation of liquid alkali sorbents requires its replacement after some cycles. Solid sorbents may be more resistant, especially if submitted to milder conditions (i.e., less corrosive pollutants and temperatures <50 °C). Operating costs of DAC could thus be reduced comparatively to CSS, as components such as binding materials, are long lived and retain their effectiveness through a larger number of cycles.

The dry alkali solid sorbent is placed under an artificial wind flow



The resin captures some of the dilute  $CO_2$  from the ambient air



When saturated with CO<sub>2</sub>, the resin is isolated and submitted to moisture at 45°C



Released  $CO_2$  is pumped out, pressurized and transported at disposal location. After drying the resin is ready for another cycle



Fig. 3. Overall Lackner's DAC process (inspired from [29]).

Regardless of the discussions and controversies on the comparative costs of future CSS and DAC processes, as said by Keith [30] there is no single "cost of air capture", but rather air capture presents a potent opportunity to directly manage atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations with a different set of benefits and trade-offs than other emissions mitigation options. Costs depend on design specifics, local prices of construction and energy, and on the geographic and economic niches. In this paper reducing DAC costs by at least a factor of two is explored.

# 3. Interest of solar chimney power plants

A solar chimney power plant (SCPP) consists of a circular greenhouse (GH) type collector with a tall chimney at its centre [31]. The air inside the transparent GH roof several meters above the ground is heated by the sun. The height of the collector increases from the exterior to the centre adjacent to the tower base. The hot air rises through the chimney by buoyancy effect where turbines produce electricity.

The SCPP is a renewable energy facility, featuring continuous power generation  $24 \text{ h d}^{-1}$  and low operation costs. The SCPP technology was experimentally tested at Manzanares in Spain, where a small prototype of 50 kW was built in 1982 and successfully tested during 7 years, by the team of Professor Schlaich [31]. The results of the operation of this demonstration plant were published by Haaf [32,33], and then by Schlaich in his 1995 book [34].

In the last decades, many researchers have carried out studies on SCPP. First, authors used thermodynamic analysis in order to study the performance of power generating system [35–37]. Later, authors focused on costs pre-estimation on large-scale SC system. Thus, Pasumarthi and Sherif [38,39] established mathematical models, based on experimental devices, describing the fluid flow and heat transfer features, while the team led by von Backström [40,41] put emphasis on turbine performance of the SCPP and Ming [42–44] set up analytical models and performed numerical simulations on turbine performance and on flow and heat transfer.

SCPPs are environmentally-friendly compared with existing coal-fired power stations and with other current renewable energy power generating technologies. For Bernardes [45] depending on the power output and on the life expectancy taken for the SCPP which can be up to more than 100 years, the environmental analysis results in, respectively approximately 170 and 70 g CO2-equivalents/kW h for 5 and 100 MW SCPP, as with larger plants the consumption of raw materials and resources decreases. For Weinrebe [46] the greenhouse gas emissions form a 200 MW SCPP are almost similar than for wind turbine or dish sterling, almost 4 times lower than for photovoltaic's, and more than 50 times lower than for an Australian coal plant, (respectively 18, 16, 21, 84 and 980 g CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents/ kW h). Coupled with a CSS or a DAC, SCPP becomes a "negative emissions technology", which is not the case of coal-fired power plants associated with CCS.

Moreover, contrary to other thermal power generation technologies including concentrated solar power (CSP), coal, gas and nuclear which are water intensive consumers, SCPPs do not use water for the electricity generation as they do not need any heat sink, this can be an important factor in regions with water constraints.

At the end of December 2010, the Chinese authorities [47] announced the construction of a 200 kW SCPP experimental demonstration prototype in Bay Area in Wuhai Jinsha Inner Mongolia in China [48] and the project of a 25.1 MW SCPP for 2013, accounting for desert area of 2.51 km<sup>2</sup> and 1.26 billion  $\neq$  (yuan) investment. This renewed hope in the supporters' community of this unusual renewable energy, since the previous serious project dated back in the 1980s in Spain. The same happened with the multiple announcements made by the Australian company Enviromission [49]a, b] of the *La Paz solar tower project* in Arizona with the Southern California Public Power Authority Power Purchase Agreement approved in October 2010 [50] for 2014.

Several teams analysed the possibilities of building SCPPs in other places around the world, for instance Dai [51] studied the possible performance of a SCPP in the north western regions of China, Zhou [52] did the same for the Qinghai–Tibet region of China and Larbi [53] in the south western region of Algeria. Mostafa [54] estimated the performance of a solar chimney under Egyptian weather conditions and Hamdan [55] in the Arabian Gulf region. Meanwhile Ketlogetswe [56] studied the case of Bostwana, Sangi [57] did it for Iran. Nizetic [58] looked at the feasibility of implementing SCPPs in the Mediterranean region and Bilgen [59] in higher latitudes. Zhou [60] completed an exhaustive review of solar chimney power technology and also performed an economic analysis of the floating SCPP [61] idea promoted by Papageorgiou [62]a–d]. Chergui [63] analyzed the

#### Table 1

Typical dimensions and electricity output of different size SCPPs.

Capacity	MW	5	30	100	200
Tower height Tower diameter Collector diameter Electricity output <sup>a</sup>	M M GW h yr <sup>-1</sup>	550 45 1250 14	750 70 2900 99	1000 110 4300 320	1000 120 7000 680

<sup>a</sup> At a site with an annual global solar radiation of 2300 kW h m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>

thermo-hydrodynamic aspects and very recently Kasaeian [64] performed an experimental investigation of the climatic effects on the efficiency of a SCPP pilot prototype.

Table 1 shows the typical dimensions of SCPPS for several electricity outputs as calculated by Schlaich [31].

In order to give an example, for the "La Paz solar chimney project in Arizona", literature reports [65] a "4 square-mile greenhouse (10.36 km<sup>2</sup>) directing heat toward a 2400-foot (731.5 m) tall concrete chimney", the total area available on the 2 Arizona sites [66] is 5500 acres (22.26 km<sup>2</sup>) each.

For a 200 MW SCPP, with a chimney of 120 m diameter, and a wind speed of  $15 \text{ m s}^{-1}$  [34] the airflow across it is chimney is about 14.66 km<sup>3</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> (5350 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>). This huge airflow allows the assimilation of SCPPs to giant atmosphere vacuum cleaners.

Some authors [67] proposed SCPP variants for cleaning urban atmosphere or removing heat.

Hot air for the solar tower is produced by the greenhouse effect under the GH collector consisting of a glass or plastic glazing [68] which admits the solar radiation component and retains long-wave re-radiation from the heated ground. Thus the ground under the roof heats up and transfers its heat to the air flowing radially above it from the outside border to the tower. Due to the ground thermal storage the SCPP can operate all year round 24 h d<sup>-1</sup> [69] and closed black pockets filled with water and placed on the ground act as thermal storage.

### 3.1. Need to couple DAC with an energy carbon neutral source

To achieve the maximum environmental benefits, the electricity needs for DAC must be obtained from carbon neutral sources. Air remediation processes using solar energy has been investigated, for instance by Von Zedtwitz-Nikulshyna [70] using CSP as the source of a high temperature process heat.

DAC processes using wind energy are mentioned by McGlashan [71]. The use of wind turbines built adjacently to a fleet of artificial trees to provide the required electric power seems interesting. Apart from savings in planning and installation costs, there are some benefits to this configuration, but wind intermittency is a handicap and a system driven by wind must operate not only intermittently but with a very low pressure drop through the contactor.

House [72] proposed using several other non-carbon energy sources (e.g., nuclear, geothermal, hydro power, wind power) with a different DAC concept. Any intermittent carbon-free energy source, like wind or solar thermal or solar electric power, will poorly match with DAC unless an energy storage system is included to produce baseload power.

In 2001 Lackner [73] proposed coupling another DAC technology to a "convection tower" that could either provide electricity or  $CO_2$  capture. In fact the description he reported corresponds to the "energy tower" developed by Zaslavsky [74] of Technion Institute in Israel. This "energy tower" consists in spraying water inside a tall chimney were the evaporation of water cools the hot dry air, which falls down through the tower as it cools and becomes more dense, at the bottom of which a turbine drives a generator to produce electricity. A similar idea of coupling DAC with energy towers was proposed by Bonnelle [75] and de\_Richter [76]. In 2011, a US patent by Eisenberger [77] mentioned a solar heating tower or chimney as a solar driven air current source to replace fans for CCS, but did not mention the synergies and scale economies that will be discussed later in this paper for SCPPs associated with DAC by artificial trees.

### 3.2. Optimization of plant output

In his book, Schlaich [34] indicated that double glazing the collector roof can increase annual plant output by 28.6% compared to the same plant with single glazed collector.

In order to increase the global performance of the solar chimney, several other authors [78–80] have envisioned a double glazing roof to increase the ability of the greenhouse collector to retain heat, but as the investment cost increases drastically, double-glazing is only envisioned for an area close to the chimney, where the air temperature under the collector is higher.

In his PhD thesis, Pretorius [81] found that the effect of double glazing the collector roof can increase of annual plant output up to 32.3%. Pretorius also studied the effect of double glazing only certain parts of the collector (the hottest part, near the chimney) while the rest of the collector stayed single glazed.



**Fig. 4.** SCPP with inner secondary roof to increase power output, proposed by Pretorius [81] and the possibility of adding 4 layers of photocatalytic coating (on the ground, on the inside side of the main canopy and on both sides of the inner roof).

In order to have some effective control of the SCPP output (mechanism to control the air flow through the plant), Pretorius studied the effect of a secondary roof (at 3.5 m high) (Fig. 4), and also the effect of a tertiary collector roof (at 2 m high) under the main canopy. During the sorbent regeneration process, the DAC device can play the role of this control mechanism to regulate power output.

Pretorius suggested that the air flows constantly without being regulated through the top section, while an air-flow regulating mechanism at the bottom section outlet controls the mass-flow through the bottom section of the collector. The secondary roof is expected to confer to the plant the ability to store and then release energy on demand for peak load consumption from the bottom section of the collector in order to regulate or increase the plant power output.

During base load, at times when less power is required, the bottom section is closed and energy is stored in the ground. If more power is required, the bottom section is opened in a controlled manner, which results in an extra air-flow under the secondary roof. This air-flow extracts energy from the ground and subsequently boosts plant power output. Fig. 5 illustrates schematically the operation of the plant when introducing a secondary roof.

A further refinement to achieve additional control which was considered by Pretorius is the implementation of multiple radial channels underneath the secondary roof in the collector, as illustrated by Fig. 5. These channels can be fully opened or closed off at the bottom section outlet, thereby incrementally increasing or decreasing the collector air-flow area. Papageorgiou [82] proposed a secondary modular solar collector made by a series of triangular warming air tunnels with double glazing transparent roofs.

### 3.3. Base load and peak load

All electrical needs for the processes:  $CO_2$  release and sorbent regeneration, 45 °C water vapor steam,  $CO_2$  compression, transfer and transport will be provided by the SCPP and this energy is a renewable one.

On the one hand, this local electricity consumption and also the friction losses under the greenhouse, mainly due to the  $CO_2$ alkaline polymeric absorber (leaves of the artificial tree) and the additional equipment will decrease the overall electrical production of the power plant.

On the other hand, the  $CO_2$  capture infrastructure (closed boxes for the regeneration process of the sorbent) will allow a better control of the electrical production during peak load when the electricity prices are much higher than during base load. The investment costs for this infrastructure is part of the DAC plant,



**Fig. 5.** (a) (left): Pretorius proposal of multiple radial channels underneath the collector: fully opened or closed off at they increase or decrease the collector air-flow area, (b) (right): similar configuration obtained with "open" or "closed" DAC devices under the canopy.



Fig. 6. Analogy between wind turbine and artificial tree.

therefore it acts in synergy with the power generation part of the plant.

# 4. Rationale of coupling DAC with solar chimney power plants SCPPs

 $CO_2$  capture followed by geological sequestration or transformation associating DAC under the SCPP greenhouse allows several scale economies. In fact SCPPs operates both with solar and "artificial" wind energy and cheap energy storage allows operation 24 h d<sup>-1</sup>.

Of course installing CO<sub>2</sub> plastic sheet scrubbers under the SCPP canopy will increase air friction and pressure drop, thus reducing power output production. Also the DAC process will consume energy, but as it will be seen later many scale economies and synergies arise from the SCPP–DAC coupling.

At a given point under the SCPP cover, the air flow and the temperature are almost constant. As seen previously the airflow for a model 200 MW SCPP with a 120 m chimney diameter and an inner wind speed of 15 m s<sup>-1</sup> is about 5350 km<sup>3</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. The daily CO<sub>2</sub> flow under this SCPP is 11,507 t; the annual CO<sub>2</sub> flow is 4.2 million tons. Even with only a 30% capture yield (i.e., 3452 t d<sup>-1</sup> or 1.26 Mt yr<sup>-1</sup>), the comparison is still interesting with the 680 GW h of renewable electricity produced in one year by the same SCPP, which allows annual savings of 0.9 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions [83] and provides enough electricity to about 100,000 American or Australian households.

# 4.1. Synergies of SCPPs coupled with DAC

In order to be submitted to an adequate wind speed, the "artificial trees" from Lackner [9] need to be quite high to reach a height where the airflow is sufficient. But even if they are located high enough, the artificial trees will operate only when wind velocity exceeds some cut-in value. Analogous rules govern the operation of wind turbines, where annually averaged wind power is typically one-third of peak wind power. Under SCPPs there is no airflow intermittency. Fig. 6 summarizes the analogies between wind turbines and artificial trees.

Although broad description of the technology is available, the early-stage proprietary nature of the work means that many details are not yet in the public domain and in particular the real costs of the different elements.

Lackner [9] has evaluated the expected financial cost to build and operate his artificial trees. He estimates that once mass production has been reached, the individual units of 500 m<sup>2</sup> (able to capture 10 t  $CO_2 d^{-1}$ ) would cost about \$20,000 each including all equipment and material comparatively to \$200,000 with current technology.

The image of artificial trees [84] with trunk, stem, branches, leaves and roots is interesting to summarize ideas, but it is not so poetic and the tree trunk is expected to be the shipping container that will be used as regeneration chamber to release the captured  $CO_2$  and regenerate the resin. It has to be equipped with some kind of engine and hydraulic cylinders for lifting and lowering the resin trays, outside or inside the chamber, respectively for carbon capture and for regeneration purposes.

In the case of wind power, 26% of the cost [85] comes from the tower and the foundations, 24% of the cost comes for gearbox and generator and nearly 50% for nacelle, machinery, rotor and blades. In the case of artificial trees, the "tree trunks" are only useful to support the active part of the device (the "leaves" made of an alkali polymeric resin). The roots (foundations) of this "synthetic trees" are also important as height and resistance to strong winds needs to be high.

The resin based  $CO_2$  absorbent – currently a specific product – will become cheaper in the future. As the alkaline resin and its support will become cheaper, it can be anticipated that the "tree trunks" may still represent more than 25% of the investment costs even if it will depend on the eventual 'tree' design adopted. The compressors and pumps (as well as, but to a lesser extent the heat exchangers and the humidity generators) contained in each tree will become the principal capital cost as their price will not fall. Fig. 7 shows a possible implementation of the DAC under the greenhouse of a SCPP.

# 4.2. Scale economies of SCPPs coupled with DAC

Several obvious scale economies are thus possible under a SCPP cover:

- in order to prevent CO<sub>2</sub> capture devices downwind from others to process air already depleted in CO<sub>2</sub>, by the ones upwind, all the capture units can be located in an optimum perimeter at the same distance from the centre of the SCPP collector, and all units can capture the same amount of CO<sub>2</sub>;
- no need of high "trunk", no need of deep "roots";



**Fig. 7.** Lackner CO<sub>2</sub> capture devices, made of alkali polymeric resin for DAC process under a SCPP cover.

- no need of engine and hydraulic cylinders for lifting and lowering the DAC devices, each unit having already four closed faces only two "doors" are needed to close the individual boxes needed for the regeneration process;
- the investment made for the regeneration chambers of the DAC process will allow the SCPP to regulate the input and output airflow: closing the air entrance during base load electricity consumption will allow the SCPP to accumulate solar heat under the canopy and in the energy storage water layer. During the peak load more power output will be obtained at a time when electricity prices are several times higher than during base load;
- shorter pipes and pipelines are needed; less infrastructure is required;
- at a given point under the SCPP GH cover the air speed, the airflow and the temperature are almost constant; under the GH there is no wind intermittency so the DAC can capture the same amount of CO<sub>2</sub> four times quicker than the same device submitted to natural wind;
- the SCPP collector will protect the DAC devices from heavy rains and from strong winds; operating and maintenance costs will be reduced and longer service life will be obtained: the replacement of the "trees" will be done after more years;
- more devices can be set up in a smaller area, but still collect more CO<sub>2</sub> in a reduced amount of time; as there is no wind intermittency and airflow speed is in the order of 3 to 4 m s<sup>-1</sup>, more cycles are possible in less time; in other words, four cycles can be performed per day, and since the total area of the greenhouse opening is 44,000 m<sup>2</sup> (7 km diameter and at least 2 m high at the external border), nearly 3500 t of CO<sub>2</sub> can be captured per day with four times less resin scrubber;
- the regeneration process can be quicker (natural drying of the resin);
- the heat requested for the humidity production at 40–45 °C needed for the CO<sub>2</sub> release from the resin can be solar and renewable. A part of the heat can be given back to the SCPP after resin regeneration; no heating resistors needed, nor heat exchangers, as the heat requirements were planned by Lackner to be supplied from heat recovery in the CO<sub>2</sub> compression process;
- the heat released by the CO<sub>2</sub> compression step can be recycled under the SCPP;
- less compressors, less pumps, which is important as they are considered to be among the more expensive parts of the investment after the polymeric resin has entered mass production;
- reduced set up costs;
- at the locations where the devices will be installed, the support structure of the canopy collector can also be used to support the resin sorbent (the "branches, stem and leaves" of the artificial trees)
- the electricity for pumps and compressors can be renewable energy from the SCPP production;
- if energy is produced with fossil fired power plants an amount equivalent to 20% of the CO<sub>2</sub> captured is again released in the production of the electric power needed for the regeneration process of the sorbent. As renewable energy is used to capture CO<sub>2</sub> no new CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are made, thus the overall yield is automatically increased by 25%.

As a summary: for any given process configuration, the cycle time would ideally be as short as possible in order to maximize the utilization of installed equipment, this is the case for a DAC system under a SCPP. The SCPP investment reduces the infrastructure investment for Lakner's DAC device type, meanwhile the DAC investment allows the SCPP to produce more electricity during electric peak load consumption when selling price is higher. The SCPP locations close to  $CO_2$  disposal or sequestration sites drastically decrease infrastructure investments for  $CO_2$ transportation by pipelines, the DAC devices being very close to each other, pumps and compressors are shared between several, all yields are increased and there is no intermittency in any process ....

Matthews and Caldeira [86] have shown that to prevent further warming of our planet reducing  $CO_2$  emissions to zero would not be sufficient to entail an appreciable cooling, because  $CO_2$  already present in the atmosphere would continue to trap heat. Therefore, in order to cause a significant cooling, atmospheric greenhouse gas concentrations need to be reduced. SCPPs associated with DAC systems can at the same time provide renewable energy and remove  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere, through a viable negative emission technology. SCPPs are robust and long lasting plants and they produce electricity at almost zero cost after the repayment of loans and capital.

### 4.3. Advantages of DAC under SCPPs

DAC can help mitigate emissions from small sources unsuitable for direct capture. Even old emissions can also be compensated by DAC. Lackner [9,73] explained that this technology also separates the source from disposal in a way that for instance  $CO_2$  emissions from Europe, China or the USA can be compensated in the African Sahara desert without long distance transportation of compressed  $CO_2$  by pipelines or without long distance shipping by boats to the disposal site.

New sorbents with better chemical kinetics and lower binding energies can substantially improve the cost of dilute  $CO_2$  capture from ambient air, comparatively to  $CO_2$  capture from concentrated sources in fossil carbon power plant chimneys. But solid sorbents can also be useful for conventional CCS as demonstrated by the important research efforts is this field [87–89].

### 4.4. Proximity of SCPPs from disposal sites

In order to minimize transport and improve the cost of the overall direct air CCS process as well as several scale economies, SCPPs can be built in the vicinity of appropriate sequestration sites like geological formations suitable for sequestration (deep saline aquifers) or close to oil wells (for enhanced oil recovery) or mining facilities.

Near abandoned and old underground coal mines are generally millions of tons of coal heaps, coal mine tailing dumps and coal slurry residues. As albedo of this waste is generally low, spread below the canopy collector of a solar chimney this waste can help accumulate heat for night electricity production.

Transforming acidic  $CO_2$  into mineral carbonates by reaction with basalt and alkaline rocks has received extensive attention [90–93] as a way to mitigate  $CO_2$  emissions. SCPPs can be built in locations containing this type of ultramafic ores.

Some authors [94] have proposed the production of algae biodiesel associated with solar chimneys.

Among the pros and cons, it can be argued that since the Manzanares SCPP Spanish prototype was built in the 1980s, with a 200 m tall chimney, no industrial scale SCPP with a 700 to 1000 m high chimney has been built. There is no financial or scientific interest to build intermediate prototypes with chimneys from 300 to 600 m. These prototypes would be expensive to build and the electricity produced would not be competitive if it is not subsidized. On the one hand, the fact is that even if the proof of the SCPP concept is already done and taken for granted, to be competitive with other power facilities, SCPPs need to be giant structures. On the other hand, the scientific proof of the concept

for a DAC system has also already been done by Lackner and his associates at relatively low cost, and there is no real interest to immediately build a giant DAC facility as the one proposed in this paper associated with a SCPP. The financial and industrial proof of DAC interest can follow up a classical scale up with progressive growth of costs from pilot plants to bigger and bigger prototypes. In other words, there is a financial risk to build a giant SCPP or a big DAC facility, today no one will take both risks together. But as soon as several industrial scale SCPP will be built (for instance in La Paz, Arizona, USA), installing competitive DAC systems will be possible at lower costs.

Alternative processes are needed to decrease the level of atmospheric greenhouse gases. The availability of negative emission strategies can help to meet 2 °C temperature limits.

Making negative emission strategies available will reduce the cost of keeping year  $2100 \text{ CO}_2$  concentrations near their current level, thus planning to deploy negative emission technologies should be further considered.

#### 4.5. Cost reduction potential of SCPP+DAC

The process proposed in this chapter associates a solar updraft chimney with direct air capture as a tool for emissions mitigation and fits into the portfolio of technology options for managing emissions and climate risk. In order to "fight global warming" as summarized in the title of this paper, in Sections 4 and 5 a complementary technology will focus on enabling production of transportation fuels with low carbon intensity.

In the literature plenty of data on DAC costs is available and there is a significant variance in them. An article published in 2012 by 6 scientists lead by House [95] estimates that total system costs of a DAC system will be on the order of US \$1000 per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub>, based on experience with as-built large-scale trace gas removal systems. They conclude that their "*empirical*" analyses of operating commercial processes suggest that the energetic and financial costs of capturing CO<sub>2</sub> from the air are likely to have been underestimated as several published analyses suggest that DAC systems may only cost a few \$100/t CO<sub>2</sub>.

As mentioned in Section 1.2, the 100 pages and two-year study of the APS conducted by Socolow and 13 scientists [14] concluded that " $CO_2$  capture from air (air capture) will cost US \$ 600 to \$800 per tonne  $CO_2$  avoided". But the authors already cited in references [15–21] found quite different costs ranging from US \$120, \$250, \$420, \$630/t  $CO_2$  and even \$30 as a long terms goal [9]. Several sources that performed a sensitivity analysis and implied this APS report was too pessimistic in its assessment were quoted by Rudolf [96].

In response to the publication of the APS report, in a 25 pages article, Holmes [97] proved that the total costs for air contacting alone (no regeneration) can be of the order of \$60 per tonne  $CO_2$  (between \$43 and \$95). This estimation is based on real engineering and cost data derived from studies performed by a company named Carbon Engineering Ltd. The regeneration cycle of their process was not evaluated, as it is similar to the regeneration cycle of conventional CCS processes.

For comparative purposes, to scale up major equipment costs to full facility cost estimates Holmes [97] used similar costing methods and capital recovery factors (or even more conservative ones) than in the Socolow-APS report on DAC [14].

To explain the four fold discrepancy between their  $CO_2$  capture costs evaluation and the evaluation performed by the APS team, they emphasize that it did not arise from differences in costing methodology, but from the APS's choice of a design, and in the operating differences of the principal parameters issued from the sensitivity analysis. For both Socolow and Holmes, a detailed cost optimization reflects engineering experience and the sensitivity analysis showed that the most important parameters are the alkaline solutions concentration (1 or 2 M) in the absorber, the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> removal (50 or 80%) and the air-velocity.

Holmes performed his cost optimization on a slab geometry contactor that borrows characteristics from gas scrubbing towers commonly used in the chemical processing industry, and from cooling tower designs that are well suited to cost-effective bulk air processing. The experts who wrote the APS report studied a packed tower reference design for a contactor capturing CO<sub>2</sub> out of air with an estimated overall cost (for the contactor alone) of \$180–240 per tonne CO<sub>2</sub>. According to Holmes, the APS used a reference design based on closed counter-flow gas scrubber column technology, a more expensive design choice, than the 'open' contactor device derived from cooling tower technology used by him. As a matter of fact, the Socolow-APS report does itself state that such a system 'would be much less costly' (APS [14], Section 2.4), and that "the largest uncertainty in the DAC cost is the cost of the air contactor".

Holmes employs fans already commonly used in forceddraught cooling towers and for which cost and efficiency are well known. The energy cost of operating the contactor is determined by Holmes [97] from the pressure drop and a pressure-volume work term, as for him the choice of air velocity is one of the many trade-offs between capital and operating costs, as high air velocities increase energy consumption, which is a primary contributor to operating costs.

In the case of our own proposal with SCPPs, there is no need to use air-fans (no investment and no electrical consumption), as the stack effect produces a "free" air-flow with air velocities which can be adjusted in the optimal range 1 to 3 m s<sup>-1</sup> as determined by Holmes.

Kulkarni [98] carried out an economic analysis to obtain a net operating cost for air capture of CO<sub>2</sub>. His cost estimates do not include capital expenses necessary to construct or maintain the air capture units. He finds that the total energy required is dominated by the parasitic losses (sensible heat requirements of the contactor (40%) and the adsorbent (28%)) and not by the mechanical energy associated with air flow (~5%). On the basis of their analysis of factors such as source of electricity, availability of low pressure steam, and geographic location, they estimated the net operating cost of capture to be ~ $100/t CO_2$ .

The structural cost analysis breakdown of Holmes evaluates to 19% the cost percentage of fans and labour materials. It also evaluates to 36% the structural costs for fans, pumps and absorption packing. Zeman [7] estimates at 20% the total energy requirements for air movement of DAC and 56% for calcination (thermal energy used in his type of regeneration process).

In this paper we extrapolate some of the already published reports, and use them as a calculation base for a very conservative and roughly estimate of an approximate "cost reduction potential" for some steps of the new process proposed in this paper.

To simplify the life-cycle analysis, the electricity supply needs of the Holmes process are thermally integrated with the regeneration cycle, and the  $CO_2$  from the process is captured as part of the regeneration cycle proposed. In the proposal made in this paper, using  $CO_2$ -free renewable energy produced by the SCPPs, there is no more  $CO_2$  to capture in order to compensate the power consumption of the fans, thus 25% more  $CO_2$  will be captured for the same cost (see Section 3.2). If we apply this conservative cost reductions and efficiency increases to the capture part of the process, the \$60 per tonne of  $CO_2$  found by Holmes fall down to nearly \$40 per tonne. The other electricity consummation costs (i.e., pumping and compressing) are not subtracted, as if the DAC process consumes electricity, the SCPP own revenue is reduced.

In the APS report, on table 2.3 the energy requirements of the absorber fans per tonne of  $CO_2$  captured is 0.63 GJ t<sup>-1</sup>, and only

0.07 GJ t<sup>-1</sup> for liquid pumping. A similar potential cost reduction, although not exactly identical can be applied to the Socolow [14] evaluation. According to Desmond [99], if the process power comes from a zero emissions source, thus the cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided drops from \$610/t to ~\$430/t taking into account the evaluation performed in the APS report on DAC for the complete process, as the APS report estimates to 0.7 the avoided CO<sub>2</sub> as a fraction of CO<sub>2</sub> captured.

Our cost reduction potential is quite conservative, as we do not take into account the structural cost reductions provided by the SCPP structure itself, nor the capital charge factor reduction (there is no investment costs for fans), or the sensible heat provided by the greenhouse for the regeneration process.

A full CCS process [100,101] also includes: the sorbent regeneration (which is energy consuming);  $CO_2$  transportation till disposal site (which requires high investments costs) and storage.

The scale economies and synergies already described in Section 3 when associating a SCPP and a DAC system reduce the capital cost and the contingency and further decreases the complete DAC and sequestration process.

It is not in the scope of this paper to perform a complete economic evaluation of the proposed process, but one can cite among investment reductions, the fact that when captured at a fossil power plant, the  $CO_2$  often needs transportation over long distances, using pipelines costing over \$1 million per mile [5], in expensive land areas or countries and crossing dense population areas. The installation of large pipeline networks through impassable or populated areas is expensive and poses high risks. Although the financial evaluation of increased security benefits for humans and feedstock is difficult to perform, the  $CO_2$  catastrophe that suffocated and killed 1,700 people and 3,500 livestock in Lake Nyos nearby's on August 21, 1986 should be kept in mind.

As SCPP will be built in hot deserts, when associated with DAC the location site can be chosen strategically next to the place of further  $CO_2$  processing, eliminating transportation needs and saving \$Millions in pipeline investment and capital charge factor. For instance SCPP can be built in close proximity to suitable aquifers for geological disposal, or to oil wells to perform enhanced oil recovery [102]. These locations are often far from dense populated areas (reducing risks in case of  $CO_2$  leaks) and the land is usually cheap.

In this Section 3, the SCPP described is associated with the Lakner DAC type process, as more numerous synergies and scale economies appear: the heat needed for the moisture swing regeneration process (45 °C) is in the range of the SCPP airtemperatures (25–70 °C) and this low temperature heat can be provided to the DAC under the SCPP greenhouse.

House [95] recognises that the 300-fold concentration difference of  $CO_2$  in flue gas (12%) and air capture (0.04%) causes the minimum work to increase by only about a factor of three, as previously stated by Lackner [9]. Therefore, the drawbacks of the high dilution of  $CO_2$  in the air can be compensated by other advantages of air capture. Wang [103] performed a thermodynamic analysis of several fuel synthesis methods with  $CO_2$ captured from atmosphere and concluded that the efficiency could be increased by developing technologies with lower electricity requirements like solar energy. Wang found that compared to "the energy/exergy consumed by electrolysis, the energy/ exergy penalty from  $CO_2$  capture is insignificant".

DAC is complementary to CCS as it provides a route to manage  $CO_2$  from the transportation sector and allows industrial economies of scale to deal with small and mobile emission sources (nearly 60% of global carbon emissions). Dealing with small and dispersed  $CO_2$  emitters with DAC would make the  $CO_2$  collection independent of  $CO_2$  sources, and the atmosphere could thus been considered as a means of transporting  $CO_2$  emissions to the site of its capture. House

points out that their analyses suggest that with absent radical technological breakthroughs, air capture is unlikely to be a practical  $CO_2$  mitigation technology and that it can only be viable (i.e.,  $CO_2$  negative) if powered by non- $CO_2$  emitting sources. The SCPP provides a radical technological breakthrough, is a non- $CO_2$  emitting source and at the same time its main goal is to produce an unusual renewable energy, with many synergies and scale economies when associated with DAC as proposed in this paper.

### 5. Carbon dioxide recycling or artificial photosynthesis

The stabilization of the atmospheric levels of CO<sub>2</sub> will require the use of carbon neutral technologies and fuels [104]. In a future carbon-constrained economy, the production of transportation fuels from sunlight, at competitive costs with petroleum-based fuels, is a formidable challenge facing chemists today. The use of CO<sub>2</sub> to synthesize commodity chemicals has been reviewed by Arakawa [105]. Many reviews describing several methods to convert CO<sub>2</sub> into fuels [106–108] or about the fixation and the transformation of CO<sub>2</sub> [109,110], have been published. Lackner participated to the Graves [111] article which reviews the many possible technological pathways for recycling CO<sub>2</sub> into fuels using renewable or nuclear energy, considering three stages—CO<sub>2</sub> capture, H<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> dissociation, and fuel synthesis. Dissociation methods include thermolysis, thermochemical cycles, electrolysis, and photoelectrolysis of CO<sub>2</sub> and/or H<sub>2</sub>O.

The Lackner devices are called "artificial trees", because they can withdraw, scrub or scavenge  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. But in nature, plants use sunlight as energy to combine  $H_2O$  and  $CO_2$  to form biomass. Combining carbon capture and artificial photosynthesis by photocatalysis might have some interest if synergies are possible: the "fake trees" will not appear less "synthetic" but at least it would be better than "robot trees" [112].

As energy is required to compress to high pressure the  $CO_2$  collected by the DAC devices in order to sequester it, it is interesting to try to find if  $CO_2$  can be used or transformed on the spot with less energy for some other purpose. Small quantities of  $CO_2$  can be used for biodiesel production with algae or for enhanced oil recovery. Quite often the conversion of  $CO_2$  to fuels by a photo-electro catalytic approach or by the photo-electrolysis of  $CO_2$  are described [113,114], but this article focuses on the possibilities of conversion of  $CO_2$  to fuels by photocatalysis, as under SCPP a huge amount of free solar energy is available and therefore synergies are possible.

### 5.1. Interest of photocatalysis

Photocatalysis uses photocatalysts under UV or visible light illumination to reduce or to oxidize pollutants to innocuous compounds, generally at room temperature and under atmospheric pressure. Photocatalysis is an emerging technology that has gained much attention in air and water pollution control.

Photocatalytic reaction systems collect great attention because the systems need only photons as the process source and the photo-induced chemical species have strong oxidation and reduction potential. Recent advances in visible-light-responsive photocatalysts make this technology even more attractive [2].

The ability to coat almost any surface with photoactive materials is one of the reasons why photocatalysis has quickly been implemented. A large range of applications have already been commercialized and many others are still in the research phase. Some recent commercial applications include: indoor air cleaning, process vent treatment, groundwater treatment, disinfection of hospital rooms, self-cleaning lamp covers, antifogging mirrors, etc. and at very large scale: self-cleaning paints, self-cleaning glass, and self-cleaning coatings.

# 5.2. Photocatalytic reduction of carbon dioxide

Ganesh [115] presented recently a comprehensive review of literature reported on conversion of  $CO_2$  into methanol following various routes including catalytic, thermal, biological, electrochemical and photoelectrochemical. This paragraph briefly reviews the potential application of photocatalysis to recycle  $CO_2$  in valued chemicals by photocatalytic reduction or artificial photosynthesis, and then proposes a SCPP implementation.

The reaction scheme of the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> is the following:

$$CO_2 + H_2O + hv + photocatalyst \rightarrow carboneous products + O_2$$
 (5)

The reduction reaction requires first (or simultaneously) the water-splitting [116,117] to produce hydrogen which will then react with the CO<sub>2</sub>. The photocatalytic water-splitting was first described in Nature by Fujishima and Honda in [118] and since then researchers have been investigating semiconductor systems for the production of hydrogen from water. Using renewable resources for the production of hydrogen and other fuels is attractive as a sustainable non-polluting, long term contribution to supply portable high-density energy sources.

A very complete review of the recent developments in photocatalytic water-splitting using  $TiO_2$  for hydrogen production has been made by Ni [119]. Recently Li [120] reviewed the current progress in fuels' generation directly driven by solar energy.

In 1987, the team of Professor Graetzel [121] reported in Nature the photo-methanation of  $CO_2$  at room temperature and atmospheric pressure using dispersed ruthenium and ruthenium oxides loaded onto titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>).

Few years later, many other research teams like Anpo [122,123] described photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$  with water (H<sub>2</sub>O) on various TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts at room temperature, producing methanol (CH<sub>3</sub>OH) and carbon monoxide (CO).

Several articles from Wu [124], Roy [125], Usubharatana [126], Magesh [127], Indrakanti [128], reviewed all types of photocatalysts and methods used for photo-reduction of  $CO_2$ . The most widely used catalyst is TiO<sub>2</sub> and the reaction products are generally methane, or methanol. However the photocatalytic conversion of  $CO_2$  has been studied using many types of catalysts. Kočí [129] reported an overview of the literature data from 1994 until 2007 regarding  $CO_2$  photocatalytic reduction in the presence of TiO<sub>2</sub>.

Kočí [130] also studied the effect of temperature, pressure and volume of reactant solution on the photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$  over suspended  $TiO_2$  in an annular batch photoreactor. The same parameters were also examined in the reviews previously quoted. Very often the  $CO_2$  reduction is conducted over  $TiO_2$  with water or water vapor as the reductant.

The initial step in  $TiO_2$  photo-catalysed oxidation is believed to be the formation of both hydroxyl radicals and super oxide radical anions:

$$\mathrm{TiO}_2 + h_{\mathcal{V}} \rightarrow \mathrm{e}^- + \mathrm{h}^+ \tag{6}$$

$$H_2O + h^+ \rightarrow OH^{\bullet} + H^+ \tag{7}$$

In the absence of oxygen, OH radical, a strong oxidant and  $e^-$ , a strong reductant, are the reactive species generated on photolysis of TiO<sub>2</sub> in aqueous medium. In the presence of an OH<sup>•</sup> or an h<sup>+</sup> scavenger, it is possible to use TiO<sub>2</sub> for photo-reduction processes.

In presence of air:

$$O_2 + e^- \rightarrow O_2^{-\bullet}$$

(8)

Recently, Zhang [131] selectively produced CH<sub>4</sub> from CO<sub>2</sub> on Pt-loaded TiO<sub>2</sub> photo-catalyst; Nasution [132] performed the synthesis of methanol from CO<sub>2</sub> by photocatalytic reduction over copper-doped TiO<sub>2</sub>. Li [133] found that CO was the primary product of CO<sub>2</sub> reduction for TiO<sub>2</sub>–SiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalysts. The addition of Cu<sub>2</sub>O species increased the overall CO<sub>2</sub> conversion efficiency as well as the selectivity to CH<sub>4</sub>, by preventing the electron–hole recombination and enhancing multi-electron reactions. The peak production rates of CO and CH<sub>4</sub> reached, respectively 60 and 10 µmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, for 0.5%Cu/TiO<sub>2</sub>–SiO<sub>2</sub>.

# 5.3. Experimental conditions and yields of CO<sub>2</sub> reduction by photocatalysis

The possible use of heterogeneous photocatalysis to produce fuels using solar energy to supply clean and renewable energy is a very attractive concept. A current research objective in this field is to develop a stable visible light-responsive photocatalysts capable of achieving water splitting and/or CO<sub>2</sub> reduction (artificial photosynthesis). In general, it can be achieved when a photocatalyst is modified with a suitable co-catalyst and in the past years, there has been significant progress in this area. To date, more than 100 photocatalytic systems based on metal oxides have been reported to be active for overall water splitting. According to Maeda [134] some of these oxides, consisting of early-transition-metal ions (e.g., Ti<sup>4+</sup>, Nb<sup>5+</sup>, and Ta<sup>5+</sup>) modified by a reaction promoter such as NiO, exhibit excellent quantum yields, as high as several tens of percent, without the need for sacrificial electron donors or acceptors.

As it can be seen in Table 2, numerous photocatalysts have been developed, and some have achieved high quantum efficiencies. Now days many new photocatalysts work both in the ultraviolet and the visible light region which is the main component of the solar spectrum. At present, suitable materials with sufficiently small band gap, an appropriate band gap position and the stability necessary for practical applications are available.

### 5.3.1. Sequential reactions

Several authors, like Sasirekha [135] reported that hydrogen levels increase rapidly, while methane contents increase sometime after those of hydrogen H<sub>2</sub>, formaldehyde HCHO and formic acid HCOOH and the yields of methanol increase later.

Kočí [136] studied the effects of silver doping on  $TiO_2$  for the photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$ : the yields of methane were negligible during the first 8 h of irradiation in almost all cases. A substantial increase of  $CH_4$  yield was observed after 8 h of irradiation. The highest yield of methane was observed for the 7% Ag doped  $TiO_2$  photocatalyst. The hydrogen yields were small during the first 13 h of irradiation in all cases. After 15 h the hydrogen yields increased slowly.

Kočí reported that after several hours the yields of H<sub>2</sub> were two orders of magnitude higher than those of methanol CH<sub>3</sub>OH, (respectively 130 and 1.4  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> of catalyst after 16 h of irradiation). The observed order of yields ( $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> of catalyst) order was: H<sub>2</sub> > CH<sub>4</sub> > CH<sub>3</sub>OH ≥ CO.

 $H_2$  is generated form  $H_2O$ ;  $CH_4$  is obtained from  $CO_2$  and  $H_2$ ; probably in these experimental conditions  $CH_3OH$  is obtained by oxidation of  $CH_4$  and thus the yields are 5 times lower than those of  $CH_4$  (6 µmol g<sup>-1</sup> of catalyst).

The irradiation wavelength and many other parameters are not yet optimized. However, all the different photocatalytic processes described in the literature and reviews quoted herein can on the one hand help to remove  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere, but also on the other hand convert  $CO_2$  into some useful chemicals including  $CH_4$ ,  $H_2$ , CO,  $CH_3OH$ , formaldehyde, ethanol,

# Table 2

Yields obtained for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction by photocatalysis (from selected publications).

Photocatalyst	Yield <sup>a</sup> μ mol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> of catalyst	Light source	Main product	Comments	Year Ref. author
0.5 wt% CeO <sub>2</sub> over TiO <sub>2</sub>	$2.75\mu mol\;h^{-1}g^{-1}$ for $H_2$	Visible-light	Hydrogen and methane	The reaction proceeded through the photodecomposition of H <sub>2</sub> O followed	1992 [138] Ogura
TiO <sub>2</sub> suspension in liquid CO <sub>2</sub>	<sup>b</sup> 0.28 $\mu$ mol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup>	$>$ 340 nm 9.6 W cm $^{-2}$ Xe lamp	Formic acid	The yield of HCOOH reached a maximum value after 30 h irradiation and then	1997 [139] Kaneko
0.5% TiO <sub>2</sub> suspension	$0.43 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1}$	> 340 nm 6.2 W cm <sup>-2</sup> Xe lamp	Methane	High pressure CO <sub>2</sub> using suspended TiO <sub>2</sub> powders with 2-propanol as positive hole	1998 [140] Kaneco
TiO <sub>2</sub> powders in supercritical CO <sub>2</sub> fluid	$^{\rm d}$ 1.76 µmol h $^{-1}$ g $^{-1}$	$>$ 340 nm 9.6 W cm $^{-2}$ Xe lamp	Formic acid	At 9.0 MPa and 35 °C. The yield of HCOOH increased linearly with irradiation time until 5 h and then decreased <sup>c</sup> gradually until 20 h	1999 [141] Kaneco
2% Cu/TiO <sub>2</sub> or sol- gel TiO <sub>2</sub> or Degussa P25	<sup>e</sup> 19.6 μmol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> 0.78 μmol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> 6.36 μmol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> , respectively	254 nm 138 μW cm <sup>-2</sup> 8 W Hg lamp	Methanol	Yield was significantly increased by adding 0.2M NaOH <sup><math>f</math></sup> (dissolves more CO <sub>2</sub> than pure water). In addition, the OH <sup><math>-</math></sup> in aqueous solution also served as a strong hole scavenger	2002 [142] Tseng
Pt-K <sub>2</sub> Ti <sub>6</sub> O <sub>13</sub>	<sup>g</sup> 32.8 μmol H <sub>2</sub> h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> 5.6 μmol HCHO.h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> 20.6 μmol HCOOH.h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup>	Concentrated sunlight between 9 h30 and 15 h30 on sunny days	Hydrogen, formic acid, formal- dehyde, methane and methanol	With concentrated sunlight the average temperature <sup>h</sup> was 583 K in the photoreaction cell	2003 [143] Guan
0.05% TiO <sub>2</sub>	$2.4 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1}$	$350 \text{ nm } 4.10^{15} \text{ photons.}$	Methane	Yield increase 2.5 times in presence of 0.5 M	2004 [144]
suspension 2% Cu/TiO <sub>2</sub>	$^i20\mu mol~h^{-1}~g^{-1}$	254 nm Hg lamp	Methanol	2-propanol as positive noie scavenger Switching the irradiation from 254 to 365 nm <sup>i</sup> resulted in a 60 times decrease of the methanol vield	Dey 2004 [145] Tseng
ZnO or NiO or TiO <sub>2</sub>	$^k$ on average 1500 $\mu$ mol $h^{-1}~g^{-1}$	Mono-chromatic 355 nm pulsed laser light (8 ns pulse, repetition rate 10 Hz)	Methanol	The initial yield rate is indicated, but in these experimental conditions the yields decrease <sup>c</sup> after 30 min irradiation.	2004 [146] Yahaya
1.2% Cu/TiO <sub>2</sub>	$0.45 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1}$	$365 \text{ nm } 16 \text{ W cm}^{-2} \text{ Hg lamp}$	Methanol	1.3 bar CO <sub>2</sub> pressure <sup>f</sup> 5000 s residence time.	2005 [147]
3% CuO/TiO <sub>2</sub>	$^{m}$ 442 µmol h $^{-1}$ g $^{-1}$	$\begin{array}{l} 365 \ nm \ 6 \times 10 \ W \\ 2450 \ \mu W \ cm^{-2} \end{array}$	Methanol	Experiments performed in 1M KHCO <sub>3</sub> at 60 °C. At 100 °C <sup>h</sup> the yield is 70% higher	2005 and 2009 [148-149] Slamet
TiO <sub>2</sub> supported on SiO <sub>2</sub>	<sup>n</sup> $40+38+31+24+2$ µmol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> H <sub>2</sub> , HCOOH, CH4, HCHO, CH <sub>3</sub> OH, respectively.	365 nm 1000 W Hg lamp	Hydrogen, formic acid, methane, form-aldehyde	Mixture of products representing a total of 135 $\mu$ mol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> according to curve. From 0.1 to 1% Ru over TiO <sub>2</sub> gives similar results.	2006 [150] Sasirekha
Cr doped multi film layers of TiO <sub>2</sub>	° $1284+211+265$ µmol h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> CO, CH <sub>4</sub> , and C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , respectively.	Xe-lamp	Carbon monoxide, methane, ethane	Maximum concentration obtained after 72 h of UV illumination <sup>c</sup> . 70 (wt)% Cr/Ti gives the best results	2007 and 2010 [151–154] Nichimura
TiO <sub>2</sub> coated on sapphire,	$^{p}6.4 \ \mu mol$ CH <sub>4</sub> .h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> + 3 $\mu mol$ H <sub>2</sub> .h <sup>-1</sup> g <sup>-1</sup>	broadband 200 W Hg/Xe-lamps	Methane and hydrogen	CO and O <sub>2</sub> probably formed and not effectively desorbed from the catalyst surface, so possible photo-oxidation of CO back into CO <sub>2</sub> in the reverse reaction and thus decreasing reduction vields	2008 [155] Tan
N-doped TiO <sub>2</sub> nano-tubes loaded with Cu and/or Pt nano- particles	$^{\rm q}6.8~\mu mol~h^{-1}~g^{-1}$ of a mixture of hydrocarbons	Outdoor global AM 1.5 sunlight 100 mW $\rm cm^{-2}$	Methane plus C2- C6 alkanes, olefins and branched paraffins	According to the authors, this hydrocarbon yield obtained under outdoor sunlight at $44 ^{\circ}\text{C}^{\text{h}}$ is at least 20 times higher than previous published reports conducted under laboratory conditions using LIV illumination	2009 [156] Varghese
CdSe/Pt/TiO <sub>2</sub> hetero- structures	<sup>1</sup> 0.3 $\mu mol~CH_4.h^{-1}~g^{-1}$ and 0.01 $\mu mol~CH_3OH~h^{-1}~g^{-1}$	$\lambda > 420 \text{ nm}$ 300 W Xe arc lamp	Methane, methanol and trace amounts of	Visible light photocatalysis. Gas phase product yields expressed in ppm.	2010 [157] C. Wang
Optical fiber NiO/InTaO₄	11.1 $\mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1} \ at \ 25 \ ^C$ 21.0 $-\mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1} \ at \ 75 \ ^C$ 11.3 $\mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1} \ at \ 3 \ PM$ with sunlight	$\lambda$ from 400 to 1100 nm 620 nm highest intensity 327 mW cm $^{-2}$ 100 W halogen lamp or concentrated sunlight	Methanol	<sup>r</sup> 0.2 M NaOH solution dissolves more CO <sub>2</sub> . The OH <sup>−</sup> ions in aqueous solution also act as strong hole-scavengers. <sup>i</sup> Production rate increases with sunlight intensity (maximum reached at 3 PM). <sup>h</sup> Higher production rate at 75 °C than at 25 °C, possible due to the increased desorption rate of methanol	2010 [158] Z. Wang
C doped TiO <sub>2</sub>	$^{s}439 \ \mu mol \ h^{-1} \ g^{-1}$	Simulated daylight lamp	Formic acid	Carbon doping lowers the band gap and expends the absorption of visible light region	2011 [159] Xue

<sup>a</sup> In order to allow comparisons *yield written in italics* are extrapolated values with the assumption of linear kinetics curve, the original data in given forwards. <sup>b</sup> 8.4  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> cat after 30 h.

<sup>c</sup> Yield first increases then decreases, probably by secondary reactions consuming the primary products or reoxidation by the free oxygen generated.  $^{d}$  8.8  $\mu mol~g^{-1}$  cat after 5 h.

<sup>e</sup> After 6 h: with 2.0 wt% Cu/TiO<sub>2</sub> methanol yield was 118  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> cat, with sol-gel TiO<sub>2</sub> 4.7  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> cat and with Degussa P25 38.2  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> cat. <sup>f</sup> Photoreduction may be accelerated by high concentration of  $HCO_3^-$  obtained by alkali solutions that dissolves more  $CO_2$  than does pure water, or by elevated  $CO_2$ 

pressure of the reactor. <sup>g</sup> With concentrated sunlight 197; 34 and 124  $\mu$ mol h<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively of H<sub>2</sub>, HCHO and HCOOH in 6 h; 408  $\mu$ mol H<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> at ambient temperature with 150 W Hg

lamp irradiation in 6 h. A simultaneous supply of photons and of thermal energy often improves the activity of photocatalysts probably because at low temperatures surface coverage is high and products do not easily desorb, thus product desorption is rate limiting.

600  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> after 30 h.

<sup>j</sup> More efficient wavelength depending in photocatalyst bandgap.

<sup>k</sup> Respectively 160, 150 and 140 µmol of methanol obtained in 20 min with 300 mg of ZnO, or NiO or TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalyst.

<sup>1</sup> Increasing light intensity increases photocatalytic yields.

<sup>m</sup> 2655  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> after 6h at 60 °C, in the order of 4500  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> after 6 h at 100 °C according to curve).

<sup>n</sup> According to curve.

<sup>o</sup> After 72 h CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, and C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> concentrations reached, respectively 8306 ppmV (92.5 mmol  $g^{-1}$ ), 1367 ppmV (15.2 mmol  $g^{-1}$ ), 1712 ppmV (19.1 mmol  $g^{-1}$ ). <sup>p</sup> After 7.5 h: 48 µmol CH<sub>4</sub>, $g^{-1}$  and 22.5 µmol H<sub>2</sub>  $g^{-1}$ .

<sup>q</sup> The authors measured 5 mg carbon nano tubes for a 1 cm<sup>2</sup> membrane of 35 μm length, they calculated an overall hydrocarbon production rate of 160 μl h<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>, or 0.83  $\mu l$  cm  $^{-2}$   $h^{-1}$  , or 111 ppm cm  $^{-2}$   $h^{-1}$  , and also 65 ppm  $H_2$  ppm cm  $^{-2}$   $h^{-1}$  .

48 and 3.3 ppm  $h^{-1}g^{-1}$  of CH<sub>4</sub> and CH<sub>3</sub>OH, respectively; if Fe used instead of Pt, H<sub>2</sub> production is 55 ppm  $h^{-1}g^{-1}$ . <sup>s</sup> 2634  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> cat after 6 h.

higher hydrocarbons, etc. providing a carbon-neutral energy alternative to fossil fuels.

But accomplishing this goal in an efficient and a cost-effective way will be challenging due to the large volumes of air that must be processed. Photocatalytic reactors can be modular and operate with negligible pressure drop. They have already been scaled up to suit a wide variety of indoor and outdoor air quality and environmental applications [137-159].

### 5.3.2. Temperature effect

Several authors reported that increasing the reaction temperature further increased the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> reduction: Anpo [160] observed that the total yields of CH<sub>4</sub>, CH<sub>3</sub>OH, and CO are larger at 323 K than at 275 K.

Wang [158] obtained almost a double yield of CH<sub>3</sub>OH when increasing temperature from 25 to 75 °C. Zhang [166] obtained CH<sub>4</sub> yields of 0.14 and 0.115  $\mu$ mol h<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> at 323 °C, and 0.56 and 0.205  $\mu$ mol h<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> at 343 °C, respectively for 0.15% Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> nano-tubes and 0.12% Pt/TiO2 nano-particles (quadrupled and doubled yield depending on the catalyst). Experiments carried out by Saladin and Alxneit [161] showed that the overall reaction rate of CH<sub>4</sub> formation increases when the temperature rises from 25 to 200 °C. Slamet [148,149] showed an increase of methanol formation with temperature in experiments performed at 43, 60, 75 and 100 °C.

Quite often thermal energy improves the activity of photocatalysts already activated by photons, for instance when products desorption is rate limiting warming will increase the production rate, but an optimum might exist if CO<sub>2</sub> and reagents absorption is important. Higher temperatures might also lead to thermal catalysis, but CO<sub>2</sub> reduction might follow other reaction pathways, modifying selectivity.

Studying several Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalysts, Yang [162] reported that all the mixtures tested showed visible light response in comparison with pure TiO<sub>2</sub> and also that photoproducts desorption was the rate-limiting step in the CO<sub>2</sub> photoreduction. Reaction products could act as electron donors for enhancing visible light hydrogen evolution from Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalysts. Yang also investigated the effect of Cu dopant, pH, irradiation time and using Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>3</sub> as a sacrificial agent.

#### 5.3.3. Wavelength effect

Matthews [163] demonstrated that the light wavelength influences the photocatalytic yield. Tseng [145] showed that for the CO<sub>2</sub> reduction using TiO<sub>2</sub> the light with shorter wavelength (254 nm) is significantly more effective (60 times) than with 350 nm wavelength. Koci [164] observed the wavelength effect on photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> by Ag/TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalyst: the main products concentrations (CH<sub>4</sub> and CH<sub>3</sub>OH) were higher with the 254 nm lamp than with the 365 lamp while no products were observed with the 400 nm lamp as the catalyst was not active under visible light.

Wang [165] studied visible light photo-reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using CdSe/Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts; Zhang [166] demonstrated that iodinedoped TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles are photocatalytically responsive to visible light illumination; Ogura [167] worked on a cerium oxide CeO<sub>2</sub>\_TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalyst irradiated by visible light and the reaction products were H<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> and Varghese [156] described high rate solar photocatalytic conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> and water vapor to hydrocarbon fuels. Copying natural photosynthesis with photocatalytic CO<sub>2</sub> reduction using sunlight could be a direct method to both decrease greenhouse gases and supply sustainable energy to mankind. Thus, in order to fully harvest solar energy, visible-light driven photocatalysts are highly desired.

Recently Kin [168] demonstrated that even the NIR energy can be used as the driving source for photocatalysis besides the UV and visible energy. Improvements in the photo-efficiency of photocatalysts used in these reactions are still needed to prove feasibility, as well as scaling up the size of the photocatalytic reactors.

Efforts have to be made to extend the light absorption range of TiO<sub>2</sub> from UV to visible light and to NIR, and also to improve the light absorption in the overall efficiency (kg CO<sub>2</sub> converted kg<sup>-1</sup> catalyst) as well as to increase the photocatalytic activity of TiO<sub>2</sub> further by adding noble metals, metal ion doping, anion doping and metal ion implantation and even the addition of sacrificial regents or newer experimental conditions to prevent backward reactions.

Table 2 gives several selected examples of CO<sub>2</sub> reduction experimental conditions and yields. Production rates are often expressed in terms of  $\mu$ mol  $h^{-1}g^{-1}$  of catalyst as the quantum yield is still low. In order to allow comparisons although the kinetics are not linear we calculated h<sup>-1</sup> yields, the original data of the authors are given in the notes at the bottom of Table 2.

As seen in Table 2, the principal products are methane and/or methanol, the overall reaction schemes are:

$CO_2 + 2H_2O + hv \leftrightarrow CH_4 + 2O_2$ (3)	$CO_2 + 2H_2O + hv \leftrightarrow CH_4 + 2O_2$	(9)
---	---	-----

$$CO_2 + 2H_2O + hv \leftrightarrow CH_3OH + 3/2O_2 \tag{10}$$

In both cases free oxygen is a reaction product.

If CO and  $O_2$  are formed and not effectively desorbed from the catalyst surface photo-oxidation of CO back into  $CO_2$  in the reverse reaction is possible and thus decreases reduction yields. Secondary reactions are possible for instance leading to higher molecular-weight hydrocarbons. This explains some cases where production rates of lower molecular-weight initial products increases first and then after some time decreases or reaches a steady-state.

With excess catalyst yields can decrease, for instance in aqueous solutions when large quantity of catalyst prevents a good penetration of light in the reactor.

### 5.3.4. Alkalinity effect

With the exception of Rh/TiO<sub>2</sub>, all these solid materials exhibit the properties of solid base catalysts; therefore the slightly acidic  $CO_2$  can be adsorbed on the surface. The adsorption of  $CO_2$  on the surface is particularly important since  $CO_2$ , which is a stable and linear molecular, becomes after adsorption an active specie of abundant reactivity for photocatalytic reduction. The reactors are two-phase systems and can be either gas-catalyzed or liquidcatalyzed. Generally catalyst are typically on either fluidized or fixed beds.

Adding NaOH or another alkaline solution dissolves more  $CO_2$  than pure water, and in addition  $OH^-$  in aqueous solution also acts as a strong hole scavenger. Using organic sacrificial hole scavengers like 2-propanol decreases profitability.

In water solution the experimental results of several authors indicate that the products yields increases significantly with increasing  $CO_2$  concentration.

The influence of water and carbonates has been studied by Dimitrijevic [169].

### 5.4. Sensitivity analysis of key parameters for SCPP+photocatalysis

Artificial photosynthetic systems are promising routes for solar-to-chemical energy-conversion process, but they are still at the laboratory stage where the principles of their assembly and functionality are still being explored. Significant challenges remain to build efficient devices capable of producing solarfuels at a scale and at a cost that can compete with fossil fuels.

The principal interest of photocatalytic processes is mainly due to the fact that it can be powered by sunlight and that a photocatalyst like TiO<sub>2</sub>, is usually cheap, chemically stable, available and abundant. Moreover photocatalytic reactions often occur at room-temperature and at ambient-pressure, with no need of additives or solvents. Dhakshinamoorthy [170] reviewed in 2012 the titanium containing photocatalysts, focusing on pure TiO<sub>2</sub> as well as on metal- and non metal-doped titania, noble metals supported on titania and micro-mesoporous titanosilicates or porous matrices containing titania clusters. Mori [171] reviewed the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O on various titanium oxide photocatalysts, and noted that the bulk TiO<sub>2</sub> powders under heterogeneous gas-solid conditions produced CH<sub>4</sub> as the major product, while the predominant formations of CH<sub>3</sub>OH as well as CH<sub>4</sub> were observed on the highly dispersed titanium oxide moiety anchored on zeolites and mesoporous silica materials.

Photosynthetic reactions are determined primarily by three reaction processes: light-harvesting processes; charge generation and separation processes; and catalytic reaction processes (Eqs. (6)–(8)). The overall efficiency is determined by the balance of thermodynamics and kinetics of these processes. In the case of  $CO_2$  photoreduction with water, two or more photocatalysts might be necessary, as often H<sub>2</sub> is generated first form H<sub>2</sub>O; then CH<sub>4</sub> is obtained both from CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>.

As seen previously in Section 4, many types of photocatalysts and methods are used for photo-reduction of  $CO_2$ , but the synthesis of photocatalytic molecules and materials is becoming increasingly sophisticated and thus expensive. The most widely used photocatalysts are TiO<sub>2</sub> derivatives (Table 2) and the reaction products are generally methane, or methanol with other products [122–130].

In the scientific literature, photocatalysts are often only characterized in terms of reactivity, and selectivity, and sometimes stability but quite little is known about the cost of the photocatalysts or of their preparation.

Many parameters are important for the conversion yield, not only the size and surface area of the photocatalyst, the doping element, or the co-catalyst, but also for instance the temperature, the alkalinity and the absorption wavelength. The key parameters and driving costs were seen in previous paragraphs of Section 4.

Increasing the absorption in the visible-light region often increases the efficiency and quantum yield, but although research efforts have resulted in the emergence of new generations of visible-light-active photocatalysts, visible-light driven  $CO_2$  reduction is at an even earlier stage of development than water splitting. On Table 2 some examples of the yields that can be obtained with selected photocatalysts are summarized. Izumi [172] reviewed in 2012 other  $CO_2$  reduction reactions in water or with moisture using semiconductor photocatalysts other than TiO<sub>2</sub> (ZnO, CdS, SiC, etc) with the formation rates of the products obtained.

To understand heterogeneous photocatalytic processes, one of the keys is the surface of the active catalytic material since the chemical transformation takes place there. Consequently, the reactivity of a catalyst scales directly with the number of exposed active sites at the surface. Furthermore, photocatalysts are often doped with precious metals, and accordingly it is advantageous to disperse the photocatalytic active material as nanoparticles, not only to maximize the number of active sites and enlarge the range of wavelength reactivity, but also to keep the manufacturing cost of the catalyst low. But even if the precious metal co-catalyst is present at only 1% by weight, as the current cost of a gram of Pt, Rh or Pd is roughly a million times the cost of a gram of fuel [173] it would account for 98% of the cost of the photocatalyst. The substitution of a base metal instead of precious metals reduces the cost of the photocatalyst and makes it a possible alternative material for the purpose of an industrial application.

For a cost-effective and sustainable large-scale implementation, very different issues must be addressed and fulfilled [174], including photocatalyst cost, abundance, low toxicity and longterm stability under strong solar irradiation. These crucial requirements suggest the use of cheap transition metals and naturally abundant chemical elements such as iron, titanium, zinc, carbon, nitrogen and sulphur, and avoid using costly sacrificial agents or scavengers.

The ideal photocatalyst has a low cost and shows high performance and effectiveness, but as explained by Grills and Fujita [175], two other important parameters are turnover numbers and turnover frequencies. For a realistic system life, turnover numbers should be high and turnover frequencies should be very fast, and the current state of the art is many orders of magnitude away from either target. For each specific and individual photocatalyst, synthesized at the laboratory scale for academic research purposes, the number of possible photocatalytic cycles is yet unknown and currently it is quite difficult to extrapolate large scale production costs.

Low-cost fabrication techniques such as hydrothermal and chemical vapour deposition are now widely used, and often the active catalytic material is dispersed as nanoparticles onto high surface area supports such as silica, alumina, carbon or zeolites. Photocatalysts anchored to cheap supports have a better chance to be developed in kilogram quantities and employed for practical applications.

Many works report the use of heterogeneous photocatalysis for deodorization and treatment of gas streams and indoor-air, and worldwide large scale use of photocatalytic self-cleaning glass, paints and coatings demonstrates the interest of photocatalysis in industrial applications, and in particular for pollution removal [2,176,178]. Experiments carried out in real scale showed that photocatalytic road materials induced a significant reduction in NO<sub>x</sub> air pollutants. But further research is still strongly necessary to investigate long term performances in terms of economical vantages for the environment.

Large scale photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> to realize carboncontaining solar fuels is still in the infancy and its industrial application is still probably a decade away from making economic sense. Significant advances in efficiency are required before such devices will be able to compete with conventional energy sources. A further challenge is translating laboratory-scale academic research into scalable, industrial technologies, including considerations of large-area processing and outdoor testing [173] before large-scale implementation. Whether it is a photocatalyst for air or water purification, environmental remediation or high-density fuels production, the cost of the photocatalyst is a major factor in determining the feasibility of an application. The ideal material has a low cost and shows high performance, effectiveness and stability. Artificial photo-synthesis has the potential to provide significant economic, environmental and social benefits, providing that solar energy-conversion efficiencies increase and production/operating costs decrease. The effects of the other process variables although important practical issues appear secondary and for such large scale PCR the driving parameters will be the photocatalyst cost and lifetimes, quantum yield, visible light absorption and reaction rates.

# 6. Choice of experimental conditions for large scale tests of photocatalysts

As shown in Table 2, with an increase of the yields by almost three orders of magnitude, in several reduction products, this last 20 years of research has performed remarkable progress.

Several large scale tests of photocatalysis for air purification have been performed around the world. Many experiments in Europe, Japan, Hong Kong and in the USA are reported in one recent review [2].

At least 50,000 m<sup>2</sup> of surface area in Japan has been coated with TiO<sub>2</sub>, and Mo [177] reports that the daily removal rate goes from 0.5 to 1.5 mmol m<sup>-2</sup> and that the photocatalytic material can maintain its effectiveness with very little performance deterioration. In many cities in Japan TiO<sub>2</sub> has been applied in coatings, such as in Osaka, Chiba, Chigasaki, Suitama and Shinatoshin.

In Japan, Ibusuki [178] carried out tests in a roadside of a 6 lanes bound highway in Tokyo with an average traffic of 113,000 vehicles a day. Volatile organic compounds VOCs and sulfur dioxide SO<sub>2</sub> were, respectively removed by 17–20% and by 67–78%. The average removal percentage for nitrogen oxides NO<sub>x</sub> with windowed panels was 31–69% during the field tests with an estimated rate of removal of 3 mmol m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>, and the capacity of the photocatalytic sheet for NO<sub>x</sub> removal was 20 mmol m<sup>-2</sup>.

But, despite these large scale experiments on heterogeneous photocatalytic destruction of gaseous pollutants (NO<sub>x</sub>, VOCs) and also several pilot-scale photoreactor testing [179–181] for water purification, more research is still needed and the road will be long before the challenge of producing  $CO_2$ -free fuel by direct conversion of solar energy into chemical energy is reached.

In order to make this process economically feasible, significant improvements such as the specific rate of  $CO_2$  reduction and the quantum yield of photoreaction are needed prior to up scaling [182].

Recent work from Takeda [183] led to the discovery of a rhenium(I) complex with a very high quantum yield (0.59) for an efficient photocatalytic  $CO_2$  reduction into CO. But large scale use and production of this expensive catalyst seems unrealistic, in the same manner as using sapphire [155] or nano-tubes [156].

This paper does not treat of photo-electro catalysis, but we report the work of Ichikawa and Doi [184,185] who explored the hydrogen production from water and the conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> to useful chemicals by room temperature photo-electro catalysis. A TiO<sub>2</sub> anatase sample tested in a single photo-electro catalysis cell unit produced hydrogen at rates of 0.42 1 h<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> (19 mmol H<sub>2</sub> h<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> of irradiated photocatalyst area) under sunlight without applied voltage bias and also hydrogen at a rate of 26 1 h<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> with bias under 500 W mercury lamp. We can calculate that if the photocatalyst area under a SCPP is of 1 km<sup>2</sup>, on a sunny day, without applied voltage bias, the hydrogen evolution rate will only be approximately of 450 kg H<sub>2</sub> d<sup>-1</sup> km<sup>-2</sup>, and with bias the H<sub>2</sub> production can be as high as 27.8 t d<sup>-1</sup> km<sup>-2</sup>. But applying a voltage to 1 km<sup>2</sup> of photo-electrodes seems tricky.

Although some research work led to very good results at the laboratory scale, large scale application seems difficult for several reasons.

For instance, Yahaya [186] described the selective laser enhanced photocatalytic conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> into methanol. Optimum yield is obtained in just 20 min and is quite high. But in order to find synergies with SCPPs, sunlight has to be preferred to artificial pulsed laser light.

In experiments conducted by Wang [158] the quantum efficiency of optical-fiber reactor was found to be 14 times higher than that of the aqueous-phase reactor, because photocatalyst film on fiber had superior light-energy utilization. According to Wang and also to Wu [187], optical-fiber reactors can solve the difficulty of photon-energy delivery, as they provide a medium to transmit light uniformly throughout the reactor, especially for large-scale design. But a reactor with several km<sup>2</sup> of optical fiber is questionable.

A more pragmatic approach could be that of Nishimura [151,152]. In order to increase the conversion yields, they proposed a Cr doped multilayer of  $TiO_2$  films, coated on a Cu substrate by a sol-gel and dip-coating technique. The number of film layers tested was 1, 3, 7, and 11. Also, Pathak [188,189] proposed to increase the quantity of photocatalysts for the reaction by stacking conveniently several catalytic films (Fig. 8).  $TiO_2$  nano-particles embedded in Nafion membrane films (as in Fig. 8) could be coated with silver without neither changing the particle dispersion, nor the optical transparency of the catalytic films.

According to the authors, the translucent Nafion membrane films present a major advantage which is their photostability, as the films exhibited no deterioration in photocatalytic activities over an extended photoirradiation time (at least 50 h) and also as



Fig. 8. Tubular reactor with several layers of transparent photocatalytic films stacked together according to Pathak [188,189].

after being washed thoroughly with deionized water, they were reusable several times with similar photoreduction results in repeated photoreduction reactions of CO<sub>2</sub>.

The same coating methods may be used in the preparation of other metal-coated semiconductor nano-particles homogeneously dispersed in optically transparent ionomer membrane films for photocatalysis applications.

A tubular type PCR can also be envisioned for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction under a SCPP. This tubular PCR resting on the ground of the SCPP, presents several advantages:

- if pressure is needed for the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>, tubular type PCRs will be resistant enough;
- if warming is necessary the PCR can be circular and even several km long with several spiral loops all around the chimney, this will also increase contact time;
- they are better suited for a continuous flow process.

At the exit of the PCRs, un-reacted  $CO_2$  is separated from the reaction products and directed towards geological sequestration. A system of heat exchangers allows recycling heat for SCPP power generation.

In the case of reaction on the gaseous phase, obtaining alcohols or olefins should be favored to facilitate separation of gaseous reactants from liquid products. For the same reasons, when working in liquid medium, trying to obtain methane or lower gaseous hydrocarbons and hydrogen could be a good strategy, but the amount of  $CO_2$  dissolved is pressure or pH dependent. High concentrations of  $HCO_3^-$  accelerate photoreduction, thus elevated  $CO_2$  pressure of the reactor or highly alkaline solutions are used as they dissolve more  $CO_2$ .

#### 6.1. Choice of the reaction type

Some authors studied the photocatalytic CO<sub>2</sub> reduction in the presence of hydrogen. Teramura [190] uses H<sub>2</sub> gas as the reductant on the photoreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> over a Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> photocatalyst. Liu [191] obtained 118.5  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of CH<sub>3</sub>OH yield with RuO<sub>2</sub>/Cu<sub>0.30</sub>Ag<sub>0.07</sub>In<sub>0.34</sub>Zn<sub>1.31</sub>S<sub>2</sub> under hydrogen effect.

In the field of water splitting, many compound oxides are known to function as an effective photocatalyst and Teramura [192] was the first to show that compounds ATaO<sub>3</sub> (*A*=Li, Na, K) are photocatalyst oxides candidates for the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>, in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>. Under photoirradiation only CO gas was generated, the photocatalytic activity was in the order LiTaO<sub>3</sub> > - NaTaO<sub>3</sub> > KTaO<sub>3</sub> and after 24 h of photoirradiation with a 200 W Hg–Xe lamp the amount of evolved CO reached 0.42 µmol g<sup>-1</sup> over LiTaO<sub>3</sub>. CO is generated [192] and references cited there in as a result of the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> in the presence of H<sub>2</sub> or CH<sub>4</sub> as a reductant over ZrO<sub>2</sub>, Rh/TiO<sub>2</sub>, MgO and Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.

# 6.2. Choice of the reactor type

Performing the  $CO_2$  reduction reaction in solution with suspensions or dispersions of photocatalysts (fluidized bed reactor) allows vigorous agitation but presents the disadvantage of erosion by abrasion of catalyst particles and attrition of the catalyst. Milling decreased the size of the TiO<sub>2</sub> particles and this led to changes in the optical properties and also in significant deterioration in their photocatalytic activities [193].

Generally, in fixed bed reactors, the fluid flow regime allows achieving high conversion per unit mass of catalyst; and the low pressure drop enables such systems to be operated at reduced operating costs. So, a realistic option would be to have an easy mass transfer i.e., reaction in the gas phase with concentrated or



UV light tubes

**Fig. 9.** Different types of PCR according to Zhang et al. [194]: (a) flat, (b) tubular and (c) honeycomb types.

supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, and a photocatalyst as effective as possible but also cheap and readily available.

Several types of photocatalytic reactors (PCR) have been developed, and they can be divided in 3 main categories [194]: plate, honey-comb or tubular as shown in Fig. 9. Among fixed-bed designs, honeycomb monoliths and annular reactors are the most common because of their higher volumes and lower pressure drops.

Kočí [195] studied recently the influence of geometry in annular batch reactors.

# 6.3. Research effort needed

The intrinsic idea of photocatalytic conversion of carbon dioxide and water (liquid or vapor) into hydrocarbon fuels is appealing and even if the process has historically suffered from low conversion rates, rapid advances are made as can be seen in Table 2.

The yield of photo products can be modified substantially under different experimental conditions such as light wavelengths, light intensity, sacrificial reagents or additives, temperature, reaction media, reaction time and reactor configuration. Other variables, such as  $CO_2$  pressure, pH and oxygen and moisture content are also important in photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$ . But the efficiency of photocatalyst is the key parameter to a large extent. The photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$  is still in its infancy. There are still many opportunities for further improvements.

#### Table 3

Several reactor configurations for solar photocatalytic reactions [198], Fighting global warming by photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$  under giant photocatalytic reactors.

Suspended photocatalyst	Supported photocatalyst			
Concentrating reactors				
Parabolic trough reactor	Parabolic trough reactor			
Falling-film reactor				
Non-concentrating reactors with reflectors				
Compound parabolic collecting reactor	Tubular reactor			
	Fiber-optic-cable reactor			
Non-concentrating reactors without reflectors				
Flat-plate reactor	Flat-plate reactor			
Trickle-down flat-plate reactor	Trickle-down flat-plate reactor			
Solar pond	Thin-film fixed-bed reactor			
Inflatable tube reactor				
Tubular reactors				
Pressurized tube reactor				
Double-skin sheet reactor				
Falling-film reactor				

The implementation of a photocatalytic process at an effective scale requires the use of a photo-reactor, a device which brings into contact the reactants with a photocatalyst and with light energy, as well as collecting the reaction products.

An "artificial tree" from Lackner can provide the reactants ( $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  vapor) with synergies and scale economies meanwhile the SCPP can provide the sunlight and the structure for the photoreactor.

Photocatalysis offers already good prospects, but more research is needed before reaching useful giant photocatalytic reactors [75,12] able to filter several cubic kilometers of air every day, or to transform by photocatalysis several tons of products.

Intensified research effort in this direction has to be performed to:

- develop more efficient photocatalysts with enhanced photocatalytic activity and increased specificity, maybe by composite photocatalysts made of semiconductor oxides and high surface area adsorbents [196], or by molecular imprinting [197] in order to induce selectivity among the products to be photo-transformed;
- choose the best photocatalyst among the numerous candidates, which apart from cost also depend on which chemical reactions are considered and which products are expected;
- optimize the different reduction or oxidation processes, mass transport, adsorption of reagents, contact time, humidity effects, adhesion of photocatalyst to substrates, photocatalyst reactivation in case of deactivation;
- select the operating conditions, in liquid or in gaseous phase, with suspended or with supported photocatalyst;
- determine how to best organize and use photocatalytic reduction or oxidation technology;
- ensure that there are no emissions of hazardous by-products and no unexpected environmental consequences from the large scale use of these catalysts and processes;
- optimize PCR configuration, size and shape.

In Table 3 several PCR configurations are summarized according to [198,126].

6.4. Extrapolation to large scale photocatalytic reactors and photocatalytic performance

The performance and product distribution depend on the nature of the photocatalyst and the reaction conditions. Literature review shows that reactions can be carried out at room temperature and atmospheric pressure or under pressure and with water vapor. Some research teams work with CO<sub>2</sub>-saturated aqueous solution (very diluted), some others in the gas phase or in supercritical fluid CO<sub>2</sub>.

Best yields are often obtained after 6 to 24 h of illumination in batch reactors.

Upscaling to giant photocatalytic reactors seems difficult since many of the  $CO_2$  reduction reactions described in the literature cited herein were generally performed in reactors with a volume < 1 dm<sup>3</sup> and with an amount of catalysts < 1 g.

The challenge of continuous photocatalysis consists in developing PCR designs with increased efficiency, up-scalable to an industrial size. The most important parameters are: the catalyst specific area and particle size, the catalyst amount; the mass transfer rate, the flow rate, the pressure drop; the illuminated surface; the light efficiency and the intrinsic reaction kinetics.

 $TiO_2$  is one of the most efficient photocatalysts and because of its low cost, strong oxidizing power, high stability and non-toxicity, it is already extensively used for environmental applications and complete degradation of some pollutants.

### 6.5. Synergies from SCPPs coupled with photocatalytic reactors

For any catalyst to be efficient, large active surface areas are needed, as well as a potent irradiation source. The SCPPs greenhouse collectors have a huge surface exposed to freely available sunlight with UV and visible-light irradiation 12 h d<sup>-1</sup> and might be used as giant photocatalytic reactors (PCRs) for  $CO_2$  mitigation by photocatalytic reduction.

The best methanol yield obtained by Slamet [148,149] for the  $CO_2$  reduction with  $H_2O$  and copper doped  $TiO_2$ , which was of 2655 µmol g<sup>-1</sup> of catalyst after 6 h of irradiation.

Thus, upscaling to the size of a SCPP and assuming that two cycles of 6 h can be performed per day (12 h sunlight) during 365 days, allows to calculate that 1.938 mol of CO<sub>2</sub> (85 g) could be reduced per gram of catalyst per year  $(0.234 \text{ g CO}_2 \text{ d}^{-1} \text{ g}^{-1} \text{ of})$ catalyst). In other terms, as 3452 t of CO<sub>2</sub> can be captured daily (nearly 1.26 Mt  $yr^{-1}$ ), in order to transform back to fuels 5% of the CO<sub>2</sub> (173 t daily) by a solar tower with an "artificial tree", 737 t of catalyst are theoretically needed (189 m<sup>3</sup>, as the density of TiO<sub>2</sub> is nearly 3900 kg m<sup>-3</sup>). The projected area under the SCPP collector is of 38 km<sup>2</sup>, if the area of photocatalyst covers 8 km<sup>2</sup>, the amount of catalyst will be of 92 g m<sup>-2</sup>. This is comparable with commercial photocatalytic coatings or paints which after application contain 50 to 100 g m<sup>-2</sup> of nano-sized TiO<sub>2</sub>. The giant photocatalytic reactor can be made of 4 double sided layers of translucent films or membranes [188,189] or multiple layers of metal doped TiO<sub>2</sub> films [151,152] and thus can cover only an area of 1 km<sup>2</sup> which gives room to install a second identical PCR and double the CO<sub>2</sub> transformation yield. Indeed, millions of square meters of self cleaning glasses, self-cleaning coatings, paints or cement are already in use in the world.

The rationale of PCR under the SCPP canopies comes from synergies, as the current projects for solar chimneys in Australia or Namibia forecast an area of  $38 \text{ km}^2$  with an irradiation of more than 2200 kW h m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>.

A SCPP equipped with a translucent  $TiO_2$  coated glass or polycarbonate PCR might resolve key difficulties related to the cost and to the scale-up. The shape and length of the PCR where the catalyst will be fixed can be optimized.

The SCPP provides many things a photocatalytic reactor needs:

- an external structure and an internal framework;
- a support for the PCR;
- a way to maximise the area of the photocatalyst illuminated by the light;

• an efficient illumination (no need of powerful UV lamps) natural visible light carries 10 times more energy than UV.

The rationale is that SCPPs are the only objects on earth which could be:

- in contact with the largest quantity of moving air;
- receiving huge amounts of "free" sunlight;
- being sheltered from rain and dust;
- displayed in synergy for another purpose: production of renewable electricity.

Although there are no scale economies in terms of infrastructure for a PCR, synergies are possible as the DAC Lackner device can provide  $CO_2$  and water, and the SCPP disposes of a huge flat area and of plenty of sunlight and heat.

# 6.6. Improving the choice of the PCR type

A flat type PCR can be envisioned for  $CO_2$  reduction in order to perform the photo-conversion in between the two components of double-glazing with a translucent photocatalyst inside, previously attached. But the volume inside the double glazing should not be too small.

Connection of several double-glazed panels together might raise several technical problems as the external borders must be hermetically closed and their intersection must be open to let them communicate for  $CO_2$  introduction in one side and collection of the reduced products on the other side. For transparency as well as for cost reasons it cannot be the double glazing of the main collector roof, and therefore it should be a secondary greenhouse installed on the ground as shown in Fig. 10.

### 6.6.1. Contact time and radiation effect

This configuration allows the higher irradiation rate flows for both the roof and for the ground surface where the PCRs are installed. These flat PCRs as in Fig. 11 will have a radial orientation and if long contact times are needed for a high rate of photocatalytic conversion they can work by batch process.

### 6.6.2. Day and night overall performance

The photocatalytic  $CO_2$  conversion into useful reduced compounds can only be done during the day under free sunlight.



Fig. 10. Flat type photocatalytic reactor with translucent photocatalyst inside.



**Fig. 11.** Top view and lateral view of tubular type photocatalytic reactor with translucent photocatalyst inside.

Artificial lightening at night is feasible, but as there are no scale economies, only a complete financial study of the investments amortization of the infrastructure and equipment together with the yields obtained and electricity cost could help to decide if the game is worth it. So, an alternative during night is that the  $CO_2$  captured is sequestered and stored, or sold for industrial applications like enhanced oil recovery. As the SCPPs can be built close to disposal sites, there is no need to build hundreds of km of pipelines. All waste heat of the sequestration process, for instance coming from pumps and from the compression step, can be recycled under the SCPP.

# 6.7. Sensitivity analysis of key parameters for photocatalytic reactors

As seen previously in this chapter during the examination of the key PCR parameters, several types of photochemical reactors are possible (Table 3) and Figs. 10 and 11 illustrate some possible implementations, but the final choice depends of the process, itself being photocatalyst dependent. Still very numerous photocatalysts can be good candidates and an infinite number of scenarios are still possible. The efficiency of currently available TiO<sub>2</sub>-based photocatalysts is still not sufficient for practical use in fuels synthesis. Therefore, the development of new ones and optimization of existing photocatalysts exhibiting activity upon visible light with surface characteristics of improved performance and of high chemical and physical stability are crucial for broader scale utilization of photocatalytic systems in commercial applications. Once the photocatalyst and the operating conditions will be chosen, then the products obtained will fix the type of PCR and only then design specifications and costing assumptions could be formulated.

Thus, this sensitivity analysis has been limited to the identification of the most important PCO parameters as it is still premature to try to find cost drivers and quantitative trends or to perform a cost sensitivity analysis (i.e., investment discount rate, project lifespan, cost/benefits estimates ...). Many other technologies have started out at extremely high cost, which has dropped as the technology was refined and mass scale production started. Rarely the commercial viability of a young experimental technology is taken into consideration at such an early stage. The critical factors were only mentioned to better understand which parameters affect most the process of photocatalytic  $CO_2$  reduction to fuels and photochemical systems have a long way to go to achieve their full potential and thus successfully compete with alternative approaches to produce fuels from sunlight.

### 7. Conclusion

Solar energy conversion systems fall into three categories according to their primary energy product: solar thermal systems, solar electricity and solar fuels. The rationale of associating SCPP and photocatalysis is that the three are gathered under the same structure. The SCPP greenhouse collects the sunlight, thermal energy is converted into artificial wind, and turbines transform kinetic energy into electricity. The photocatalytic reactor can transform the sunlight into fuels by artificial photo-synthesis using CO<sub>2</sub> and water. As seen in Section 3, many scale economies exist between the DAC and the SCPP, so also CO<sub>2</sub> could be available for in-place transformation into high density fuels. No scale economies have between described in this paper on the association of the SCPP and the PCR system, but some synergies arise from a common sheltered structure and a huge area illuminated by "free" sunlight. The availability of a renewable energy to assist in powering the plant can also reduce operating costs.

The transportation costs can be greatly reduced when the air capture and fuel synthesis devices are both constructed adjacent to renewable energy sources so an integrated process is highly desirable. Last but not least, at the final step of DAC, water removal from  $CO_2$  might not be necessary and  $CO_2$  compression neither, as many photocatalytic  $CO_2$  reduction processes require water and proceed at atmospheric pressure. Sometimes increasing the temperature of photocatalytic reactions accelerates them, so the final products obtained at the end of the DAC regeneration process might be used as is.

The SCPP associated with DAC and with photocatalysis provides a radical technological breakthrough: producing a  $CO_2$ -free renewable energy and at the same time removing the principal greenhouse gas from the atmosphere and enabling production of high density transportation fuels by artificial photosynthesis. For Goeppert [199], as sunlight delivers to Earth each hour as much energy as consumed by humankind in an entire year, rather than an energy problem we have an energy collecting and storage problem. This problem could be solved by the integrated process proposed in this paper.

For Pearson [200] if  $CO_2$  is taken from the atmosphere and transformed into energy-dense carbonaceous products, a closed-loop production process for carbon-neutral fuels is possible, improving energy independence. This process can provide chemical energy storage systems, based on the conversion of renewable energy into gaseous and/or liquid energy carriers, the latter having the higher volumetric and gravimetric energy densities. The stored energy can then either be used for power generation or in other sectors such as for transportation. Both the gaseous and the liquid fuel energy carriers are compatible with existing infrastructures and demand.

Taking into account the very large surface area submitted to sunlight radiation and occupied by SCPPs, as well as the very large daily air-flow in the chimney, it can be envisioned an optimization and synergies to address and mitigate some of the climate change consequences of global warming caused by CO<sub>2</sub> and other GHG.

We have shown that extensive deployment of SCPP and DAC technology capitalizing on recent scientific developments has the potential to substantially lower the risks of the anthropogenic greenhouse gases emissions.

In this paper a giant photocatalytic reactor is proposed as a device able to produce renewable electricity and at the same time capture  $CO_2$  and transform a part of this  $CO_2$  back into liquid fuels in order to:

- reduce some GHGs atmospheric concentration, for instance by CO<sub>2</sub> capture from ambient air followed by geological sequestration and/or utilization;
- provide fuels and/or useful chemicals by photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>, taking profit of the very large area of the greenhouse collector canopy receiving sunlight with UV and visible-light radiation
- with minimum investment as the SCPP infrastructure can be used as the support for the PCR used for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction.

Alternative processes are needed to decrease the level of atmospheric greenhouse gases.

Among the technologies capable of converting solar energy,  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  into easy to use fuels, there is [201] the solar thermal conversion, the combination of photovoltaic devices and electrocatalysis, or the photocatalytic conversions.

Licht proposes an original process (solar thermal electrochemical production) [202] derived for the solar generation of energetically rich chemicals like iron, aluminum, magnesium or lithium to proactively convert CO<sub>2</sub> into fuels. For instance, as the carbothermal iron production is responsible for 25% of worldwide industrial CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, Licht proposes CO<sub>2</sub>-free production of iron by STEP. For instance, as the iron ore hematite is soluble in molten Li<sub>2</sub>O and Li<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, Licht proposes using concentrated sunlight to heat at 650 °C molten carbonate and decrease the energy of the electrolysis reaction. Prakash [203] propose carbon capture and recycling by photocatalysts supported on silica nanosprings.

This paper presents a negative emission technology obtained by coupling SCPPs with DAC systems which allows many scale economies, and the interest of photocatalysis for the reduction of  $CO_2$ .

To enable the use of these technologies in practice, still many improvements are necessary in material optimization, as well as in reactor design and operation. But the perspective of SCPPs development is promising, as each solar chimneys power plant of 200 MW could at the same time:

- produce 680 GW h of renewable electricity per year, which is valuated as an annual saving of 0.9 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions [83] for every SCPP;
- deliver non intermittent renewable electricity 24 h a day, 365 days a year, with a delivered power output as constant as possible, but also that can be controlled in order to be increased during peak load and act as a peaking power facility;
- drastically reduce the investment costs of Lackner's DAC devices;
- increase the yields and drastically reducing the operational costs of DAC;
- allow negative emissions energy production;
- provide humankind with portable high-density fuels made with sunlight artificial photosynthesis by photocatalysis ....

Fuels from sunlight [204], or converting  $CO_2$  back to fuel using solar energy is not a dream, but a challenge which still requires

long-term research to develop the application side. For the moment the yields are poor, but no matter if more free solar energy is used in recycling  $CO_2$ , than is returned by the synthetic fuels produced by recycling  $CO_2$ . "Sunlight, the original source of energy does not itself produce  $CO_2$ . As any renewable energy if it is not used it is lost anyway, but it is a lost opportunity, not a lost resource that is why we call it renewable! [205]".

As written by Centi [206,207] this project gives, "... the possibility to develop "artificial trees" able to capture the  $CO_2$  and convert it to liquid fuels (hydrocarbons, alcohols). Therefore, the implementation of this concept will allow to reduce the levels of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere and at the same time capture a renewable source of energy (solar radiation) transforming it in a form (liquid fuels) which can be stored, used and transformed, preserving thus the large investments made on fossil fuels. The liquid hydrocarbons and alcohols can be alternatively used also as chemical feedstocks". Synthetic liquid hydrocarbon fuel will act as a convenient carrier of high-density energy that can be easily stored and transported.

No major changes will happen through incremental improvements, this perspective article represents a contribution to demonstrate that with the disrupting technology using together solar towers and photocatalysis, synergies are possible in order to reduce  $CO_2$  levels in the atmosphere and at the same time produce fuels in a continuous flow photocatalytic reactor with "free" solar light. Decarbonizing at the same time the electricity sector and the transportation sector will indeed be a good transition towards a more sustainable future. Building SCPPs is really sustainable as it is a deserts energy and requires local raw materials: sand for the glass canopy and cement and iron for the chimney.

If all our energy needs (10,000 GW) were satisfied by SCPPs, the whole atmosphere would come back into one solar chimney collector every 15 years, which could help to use and reuse  $CO_2$  indefinitely.

Since the review was submitted, several reviews on  $CO_2$  capture form the atmosphere technologies have been published, Goeppert [199] gives a good overview. Huge progress has also been made in the  $CO_2$  capture physisorption by metal-organic frameworks MOF. MOF is a class of stable periodic porous materials, for witch uptake and release of  $CO_2$  is fully reversible, as is has been reviewed by Sumida [208] or McDonald [209]. Often, MOF require less energy for regeneration than systems or materials relying into chemisorption and thus are promising. Many MOF can operate under humid conditions which is an advantage compared to zeolites, which lose most of their  $CO_2$  adsorption capacity in the presence of water.

Grills and Fujita [175] highlighted recent developments that seek to improve the efficiency of photocatalytic processes and especially CO<sub>2</sub> reduction with supramolecules and molecular systems in supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> or biphasic ionic liquid—supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> mixtures.

Also a long series of US patents by Eisenberger [210] were published in April and June 2012, which reviews a list of  $CO_2$ capture and regeneration devices and techniques, and in each patent a very brief and short mention to a SCPP structure is made, but without description of the scale economies and synergies with DAC given in this paper. Another patent published in 2012 describes a DAC system disposed in circle [211], using a cooling tower.

# Acknowledgments

This research work was supported in part by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (51106060).

#### References

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), 2010 Available at: <a href="http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/global.html">http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/global.html</a>.
- [2] de\_Richter R, Caillol S. Fighting global warming: the potential of photocatalysis against CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, CFCs, tropospheric O<sub>3</sub>, BC and other major contributors to climate change. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology C: Photochemistry Reviews 2011;12(1):1–19.
- [3] Metz B, Davidson O, de Coninck HC, Loos M, Meyer LA, editors. Prepared by working group III of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press; 2005.
- [4] International Energy Agency, "Energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by sector in the reference scenario, table 4.4 in World Energy Outlook, 185 p. 2009.
- [5] Lauer J Carbon Capture and Sequestration: exploring a Southwestern Pennsylvania Geologic Demonstration Project, Report status, university of Pittsburg, USA. 2008. Available at: <htps://www.iop.pitt.edu/documents/ Status%20Reports/Status%20Report%20Carbon%20Capture%20and%20Sequestration%20August%202008.pdf>.
- [6] World Research Institute: Global CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Growth in Select Sectors: 2000–2005. 2009 Available at: <a href="http://www.wri.org/chart/global-co2-emiss-ions-growth-select-sectors-2000-2005">http://www.wri.org/chart/global-co2-emissions-growth-select-sectors-2000-2005</a>>.
- [7] Zeman F. Energy and Material Balance of CO<sub>2</sub> Capture from Ambient Air. Environmental Science and Technology 2007;41(21):7558–63.
- [8] Zeman F. Experimental results for capturing CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere. AlChE J 2008;54(5):1396–9.
- [9] Lackner KS. Capture of carbon dioxide from ambient air. European Physical Journal-Special Topics 2009;176(1):96–106.
- [10] Zeman FS, Lackner KS. Capturing carbon dioxide directly from the atmosphere. World Research Reviews 2004;16(2):157–72.
- [11] Lackner KS Synthetic trees could purify air, 2003. Available at: <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/2784227.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/2784227.stm</a>; BBC News: "Artificial trees: A green solution", Available at: <a href="http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/programmes/6374967.stm">http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/programmes/6374967.stm</a>;
- [12] de\_Richter R, Caillol S Can airflow and radiation under the collector glass contribute to SCPPs' profitability? Second international conference on solar chimney power technology, Ruhr-University Bochum, Germany, 28–30 September 2010.
- [13] Direct air capture of CO<sub>2</sub> with chemicals, a technology assessment for the APS, panel on public affairs, June 2011. Available at: <a href="http://www.aps.org/policy/reports/assessments/dac-biblio.cfm">http://www.aps.org/policy/reports/assessments/dac-biblio.cfm</a>.
- [14] American physical society report: direct removal of carbon dioxide from air likely not viable, Published: May 2011, Available at: <a href="http://www.aps.org/">http://www.aps.org/</a> policy/reports/popa-reports/loader.cfm?csModule=security/ getfile&PageID=244407 >.
- [15] Ranjan M. Feasibility of air capture, master of science in technology and policy. MIT; 2010 June.
- [16] Ranjan M, Herzog HJ. Feasibility of air capture. Energy Procedia 2010;4:2869–76.
   [17] Keith DW, Ha-Duong M, Stolaroff JK. Climate strategy with CO<sub>2</sub> capture
- from the air. Climatic Change 2005;74:17–45.
- [18] Keith DW. Why capture CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere? Science 2009;325: 1654–5.
- [19] Stolaroff JK Capturing CO<sub>2</sub> from ambient air: a feasibility assessment. PhD thesis by, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA. 2006.
- [20] Pielke Jr RA. An idealized assessment of the economics of air capture of carbon dioxide in mitigation policy. Environmental Science & Policy 2009;12:216–25.
- [21] Institution of mechanical engineers, environment policy statement 11/01 negative emissions and carbon recycling air capture. 2011. Available at: <a href="http://www.imeche.org/Libraries/Position\_Statements/Air\_Capture\_position\_statement.sflb.ashx">http://www.imeche.org/Libraries/Position\_Statements/Air\_Capture\_position\_statement.sflb.ashx</a>>.
- [22] a) Keith D Carbon dioxide capture method and facility, US Patent 2010/ 0064890.b) see also Bradley J. Environmental Visionaries: The Big Gun, Popular Science, February 2010 Available at: <a href="https://www.popsci.com/science/article/2010-06/environmental-visionaries-big-gun">www.popsci.com/science/article/2010-06/environmental-visionaries-big-gun</a>).
- [23] Climeworks LLC, Statement regarding the technical assessment "direct air capture of CO<sub>2</sub> with chemicals" of the American physical society, Zurich, May 2011, Available at: < http://www.climeworks.com/tl\_files/climeworks/ downloads/CW\_statement\_APS\_DAC\_report\_2011\_05.pdf >.
- [24] Wright AB, Lackner KS Extraction and sequestration of carbon dioxide, US Patent 2009/0232861.
- [25] Wright AB, Lackner KS, Ginster H Method and apparatus for extracting carbon dioxide from air, US Patent 2010/7708806.
- [26] Wang T, Lackner KS, Wright A.A moisture swing sorbent for carbon dioxide capture from ambient air. Environmental Science and Technology 2011;45(15):6670–5.
- [27] Global Research Technologies and Lackner K. from Columbia University achieved the first successful demonstration of carbon dioxide air capture technology. April 2007, Available at: <a href="http://www.physorg.com/pdf96732819.pdf">http://www.physorg.com/pdf96732819.pdf</a>).
- [28] Lackner KS. Washing carbon out of the air. Scientific American Magazine 2010:66–71 june.
- [29] Adam D: Could US Scientist's 'CO<sub>2</sub> catcher' help to slow warming? The guardian, May 2008, Available at: <htp://www.guardian.co.uk/environ ment/2008/may/31/carbonemissions.climatechange >.
- [30] Keith D, Holmes G, What is the cost of air capture? June 2011. Available at: < http://www.carbonengineering.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/CE\_ APS\_DAC\_Comments.pdf>.

- [31] Schlaich J, Bergermann R, Schiel W, Weinrebe G. Design of commercial solar updraft tower systems-utilization of solar induced convective flows for power generation. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2005;127(1): 117–24.
- [32] Haaf W, Friedrich K, Mayr G, Schlaich J. Solar chimneys. Part 1: Principle and construction of the pilot plant in Manzanares. International Journal of Solar Energy 1983:3–202(1) 1983:3–20.
- [33] Haaf W. Solar Chimneys—Part II: Preliminary test results from the Manzanares pilot plant. International Journal of Solar Energy 1983;2(2):141–61.
- [34] Schlaich J. In: Axel Mengers, editor. The solar chimney: electricity from the sun. Germany: Stutgart; 1995.
- [35] Gannon AJ, von Backström TW. Solar chimney cycle analysis with system loss and solar collector performance. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2000;122(3):133–7.
- [36] Pretorius JP, Kröger DG. Critical evaluation of solar chimney power plant performance. Solar Energy 2006;80(5):535-44.
- [37] Ming TZ, Zheng Y, Liu C. Simple analysis on thermal performance of solar chimney power generation systems. Journal of the Energy Institute 2010;83(1):6–11.
- [38] Pasumarthi N, Sherif SA. Experimental and theoretical performance of a demonstration solar chimney model—Part I: mathematical model development. International Journal of Energy Research 1998;22(3): 277–88.
- [39] Pasumarthi N, Sherif SA. Experimental and theoretical performance of a demonstration solar chimney model—Part II: Experimental and theoretical results and economic analysis. International Journal of Energy Research 1998;22(5):443–61.
- [40] von Backström TW, Fluri TP. Maximum fluid power condition in solar chimney power plants-an analytical approach. Solar Energy 2006;80(11):1417–23.
- [41] Kirstein CF, von Backström TW. Flow through a solar chimney power plant collector-to-chimney transition section. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2006;128(3):312–7.
- [42] Ming TZ, Liu W, Xu GL. Analytical and numerical simulation of the solar chimney power plant systems. International Journal of Energy Research 2006;30(11):861-73.
- [43] Ming TZ, Liu W, Pan Y. Numerical analysis of flow and heat transfer characteristics in solar chimney power plants with energy storage layer. Energy Conversion and Management 2008;49(10):2872–9.
- [44] Ming TZ, Liu W, Xu GL, Xiong YB, Guan XH, Pan Y. Numerical simulation of the solar chimney power plant systems coupled with turbine. Renewable Energy 2008;33(5):897–905.
- [45] Bernardes MADS. Life cycle assessment of solar chimneys, world renewable energy congress VIII. Proceedings of the world renewable energy congress VIII. Denver, USA. September 2004.
- [46] Weinrebe G Greenhouse gas mitigation with solar thermal power plants. Proceedings of the powerGen Europe 1999 conference. Frankfurt, Germany. 1–3 June 1999.
- [47] China's first solar chimney plant starts operating in desert, 28 December 2010. Available at: <a href="http://www.gov.cn/english/2010-12/28/content\_1773883.htm">http://www.gov.cn/english/2010-12/28/content\_1773883.htm</a> and <a href="http://www.ccchina.gov.cn/en/NewsInfo.asp?NewsId=26743">http://www.ccchina.gov.cn/en/NewsInfo.asp?NewsId=26743</a>.
- [48] Chen Y, Yang Y, Wei Y, Yang J, Tian Y Solar hot air-flows power generation and its application in Wuhai of Inner Mongolia, energy research and information, 2010;02, DOI: CNKI:SUN:NYYX.0.2010-02-011. Available at: <a href="http://lib.cqvip.com/qk/92350X/201002/34683537.html">http://lib.cqvip.com/qk/92350X/201002/34683537.html</a>>.
- [49] a) Environission Announcements available at: <http://www.environission.com.au/EVM/content/investor\_asxannouncements.html> b) Media release: Environission power purchase agreement approved by southern California public power authority', October 2010. Available at: <http://www.environission.com.au/IRM/Company/ShowPage.aspx/PDFs/1154\_61988710/MediaReleaseperScppaApproval>.
- [50] Southern California public power authority, solar tower construction is scheduled to begin in 2012. Available at: <a href="http://www.scppa.org/pages/projects/lapaz\_solartower.html">http://www.scppa.org/pages/projects/lapaz\_solartower.html</a>>.
- [51] Dai YJ, Huang HB, Wang RZ. Case study of solar chimney power plants in Northwestern regions of China. Renewable Energy 2003;28(8):1295–304.
- [52] Zhou X, Wang F, Fan J, Ochieng RM. Performance of solar chimney power plant in Qinghai–Tibet Plateau. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(8):2249–55.
- [53] Larbi S, Bouhdjar A, Chergui T. Performance analysis of a solar chimney power plant in the southwestern region of Algeria. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(1):470–7.
- [54] Mostafa AA, Sedrak MF, Dayem AMA. Performance of a solar chimney under Egyptian weather conditions: numerical simulation and Experimental validation. Energy Science & Technology 2011;1(1):49–63.
- [55] Hamdan MO. Analysis of a solar chimney power plant in the Arabian Gulf region. Renewable Energy 2011;36(10):2593–8.
- [56] Ketlogetswe C, Fiszdon JK, Seabe OO. Solar chimney power generation project—the case for Botswana. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2008;12(7):2005–12.
- [57] Sangi R. Performance evaluation of solar chimney power plants in Iran. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2012;16:704–10.
- [58] Nizetic S, Ninic N, Klarin B. Analysis and feasibility of implementing solar chimney power plants in the Mediterranean region. Energy 2008;33(11): 1680–90.
- [59] Bilgen E, Rheault J. Solar chimney power plants for high latitudes. Solar Energy 2005;79(5):449–58.

- [60] ZhouX Wang F, Ochieng RM. A review of solar chimney power technology. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(8):2315–38.
- [61] Zhou X, Yang J, Wang F, Xiao B. Economic analysis of power generation from floating solar chimney power plant. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2009;13(4):736–49.
- [62] (a) Papageorgiou CD Solar turbine power stations with floating solar chimneys. p. 151–158; (b) External wind effects on floating solar chimney, p. 159–163; (c) Efficiency of solar air turbine power stations with floating solar chimneys, p. 127–134, IASTED Proceedings of Power and Energy Systems, EuroPES 2004. Rhodes Greece, 28–30 June 2004. Available at: <a href="http://www.solar-tower.org.uk/floating\_papageorgiou.php">http://www.solar-tower.org.uk/floating\_papageorgiou.php</a>; (d) Papageorgiou CD, Katopodis P. A modular solar collector for desert floating solar chimney technology, energy, environment, ecosystems, development and landscape architecture, ISSN: 1790-5095, ISBN: 978-960-474-125-0, 2010:126-132. Available at: <a href="http://www.floatingsolarchimney.gr/">http://www.floatingsolarchimney.gr/</a>).
- [63] Chergui T, Larbi S, Bouhdjar A. Thermo-hydrodynamic aspect analysis of flows in solar chimney power plants—a case study. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2010;14(5):1410–8.
- [64] Kasaeian AB, Heidari E, Vatan ShN. Experimental investigation of climatic effects on the efficiency of a solar chimney pilot power plant. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2011;15(9):5202–6.
- [65] (a) Massive solar-chimney project takes steps toward launch,December 2010. Available at: <a href="http://enviromission.com.au/EVM/Company/Show">http://enviromission.com.au/EVM/Company/Show</a> Page.aspx/PDFs/1226-72392495/SolarChimneyProjectBackersMakeProgrees sTowardsLaunch>; (b) Available at: <a href="http://www.azcentral.com/business/articles/2010/12/10/20101210arizona-solar-chimney-project.html">http://www.azcentral.com/business/ articles/2010/12/10/20101210arizona-solar-chimney-project.html</a>).
- [66] Land applications filled for first US solar tower development sites, July 2009. Available at: <a href="http://www.enviromission.com.au/IRM/Company/ShowPage.aspx/PDFs/1064-10000000/LandApplicationsFiledforFirstTwo-SolaTowerDevelopmentSites">http://www.enviromission.com.au/IRM/Company/ShowPage.aspx/PDFs/1064-10000000/LandApplicationsFiledforFirstTwo-SolaTowerDevelopmentSites</a>.
- [67] (a) Moreno MUS Patent 2006/7026723 "Air filtering chimney to clean pollution"; (b) Bosschaert T. Urban application of solar updraft towers. Available at: <a href="http://www.except.nl/en/#.en.articles.93-solar-updraft-tower-upgrade;;c">http://www.except.nl/en/#.en.articles.93-solar-updraft-tower-upgrade;;c</a>) "Solar City Air Filter" SCAF, was previously available at: <a href="http://www.scaft.ch/Design.html">http://www.scapt.nl/en/#.en.articles.93-solar-updraft-tower-upgrade;;c</a>) "Solar City Air Filter" SCAF, was previously available at: <a href="http://www.scaft.ch/Design.html">http://www.scapt.nl/en/#.en.articles.93-solar-updraft-tower-upgrade;;c</a>) "Solar City Air Filter" SCAF, was previously available at: <a href="http://www.scaft.ch/Design.html">http://www.scapt.nl/en/#.en.articles.93-solar-updraft-tower-upgrade;;c</a>) "Solar City Air Filter" SCAF, was previously available at: <a href="http://www.scaft.ch/Design.html">http://www.scaft.ch/Design.html</a>) (inactive link).
  [68] Schlaich J, Bergermann R, Schiel W, Weinrebe G. Design of commercial solar
- [68] Schlaich J, Bergermann R, Schiel W, Weinrebe G. Design of commercial solar updraft tower systems—utilization of solar induced convective flows for power generation. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2005;127(1):117–25.
- [69] Pretorius JP, Kroger DG. Solar chimney power plant performance. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2006;28:302–11.
- [70] Von Zedtwitz-Nikulshyna V CO<sub>2</sub> capture from atmospheric air solar driven carbonatation–calcination cycles. Dissertation ETH. No. 18387, Zurich; 2009.
- [71] McGlashan N, Shah N, Workman M, Buckle S The potential for the deployment of negative emissions technologies in the UK, Imperial College London and Grantham Institute for Climate Change, July 2010, AV/WS2/D1/ R18. Available at: <a href="http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/avoid/files/resources-researchers/AVOID\_WS2\_D1\_18\_20100730.pdf">http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/avoid/files/resources-researchers/AVOID\_WS2\_D1\_18\_20100730.pdf</a>>.
- [72] House KZ, House CH, Schrag DP, Aziz MJ. Electrochemical acceleration of chemical weathering as an energetically feasible approach to mitigating anthropogenic climate change. Environmental Science and Technology 2007;41(24):8464–70.
- [73] Lackner KS, Grimes P, Ziock HJ Capturing carbon dioxide from air. In Proceedings of the first national conference on carbon sequestration. Washington, DC. 2001. Available at: <a href="http://www.netl.doe.gov/publica-tions/proceedings/01/carbon\_seq/7b1.pdf">http://www.netl.doe.gov/publica-tions/proceedings/01/carbon\_seq/7b1.pdf</a>>.
- [74] (a) Zaslavsky D Energy towers. Available at: <http://physicaplus.org.il/zope/ home/en/1124811264/1137833043\_en>; (b) Available at: <http://www.solartower.org.uk/energy-tower-downdraft.php>; (c) Czisch G, Zaslavsky D, Guetta R. Evaluation of the global potential of energy towers, 2001. Available at: <http:// www.iset.uni-kassel.de/abt/w3-w/projekte/antrag.sp\_kreitz\_ecnwf.pdf>.
- [75] Bonnelle D, de\_Richter R. Chapter 15: Washing the atmosphere. In: 21 Unusual Renewable Energies for the 21st century (in French: 21 énergies renouvelables insolites pour le 21ème siècle), Ellipses (Ed.), France, 2010.
- [76] de\_Richter R Optimized carbon capture, 2008. Available at: <a href="http://data.solar-tower.org.uk/Optimized\_Carbon\_Capture\_RKR.pdf">http://data.solar-tower.org.uk/Optimized\_Carbon\_Capture\_RKR.pdf</a>.
- [77] Eisenberger P Carbon dioxide capture/regeneration structures and techniques. US patent 2011/0041688.
- [78] Bernardes Mads Vob A, Weinrebe G. Thermal and technical analysis of solar chimneys. Solar Energy 2003;75:511-24.
- [79] Gannon AJ, von Backström TW. Solar chimney cycle analysis with system loss and solar collector performance. Journal of Solar Energy Engineering 2000;122(3):133–8.
- [80] Papageorgiou CD, Katopodis P A modular solar collector for desert floating solar chimney technology. In: Energy, environment, ecosystems, development and landscape architecture, 28–30 September 2009 Vouliagmeni, Athens, Greece. Proceedings of the fifth international conference on energy, environment, ecosystems and sustainable development (EEESD '09). p 126– 132 2009.
- [81] Pretorius JP Optimization and control of a large-scale solar chimney power. plant. PhD thesis. University of Stellenbosch South Africa, 212 pages, 2007.
- [82] Papageorgiou CD. Floating solar chimney technology. In: Rugescu RD, editor. Solar energy. Croatia: INTECH; 2010. p. 432 p187–222.
- [83] (a) The Australian solar tower concept. Available at: <a href="http://www.enviromission.com.au/EVM/ShowStaticCategory.aspx?CategoryID=226">http://www.enviromission.com.au/EVM/ShowStaticCategory.aspx?CategoryID=226</a>;
   (b) Weinrebe G. Greenhouse gas mitigation with solar thermal power

plants. Proceedings of the powerGen Europe 1999 conference, Frankfurt, Germany, 1–3 June 1999.

- [84] Boston, February 2011. Available at: <a href="http://inhabitat.com/treepods-carbon-scrubbing-artificial-trees-for-boston-city-streets/">http://inhabitat.com/treepods-carbon-scrubbing-artificial-trees-for-boston-city-streets/</a>.
- [85] CEC-500-2005-107-SD, Yen-Nakafuji D Strategic value analysis—economics of wind energy in California, June 2005. Available at: <a href="http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-500-2005-107/CEC-500-2005-107">http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-500-2005-107/CEC-500-2005-107</a>.
- [86] Matthews HD, Caldeira K. Stabilizing climate requires near-zero emissions. Geophysical Research Letters 2008;35(4):5 pages.
- [87] Lively RP, Leta DP, DeRites BA, Chance RR, Koros WJ. Hollow fiber adsorbents for CO<sub>2</sub> capture: kinetic sorption performance. Chemical Engineering Journal 2011;171(3):801–10.
- [88] Sjostrom S, Krutka H. Evaluation of solid sorbents as a retrofit technology for CO<sub>2</sub> capture. Fuel 2010;89(6):1298–306.
- [89] Sjostrom S, Krutka H, Starns T, Campbell T. Pilot test results of postcombustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture using solid sorbents. 10th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies. Energy Procedia 2011;4:1584–92.
- [90] Mazzotti M, Abanades JC, Allam R, Lackner KS, Meunier F, Rubin E, et al. Review editors: Eliasson B, Sutamihardja RTM. Chapter 7: Mineral carbonation and industrial uses of carbon dioxide. In: IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage. Prepared by working group III of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. p. 319–337 2005.
- [91] Lackner KS. Carbonate chemistry for sequestering fossil carbon. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 2002;27:193–232.
- [92] Huijgen WJJ, Comans RNJ. Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation: literature review update 2003–2004, ECN-C-05-022, Energy Research Centre of The Netherlands, Petten, The Netherlands 2005.
- [93] Sipilä J, Teir S, Zevenhoven R Carbon dioxide sequestration by mineral carbonation. Literature review update 2005–2007. Report VT 2008-1 from Åbo Akademi University Faculty of Technology Heat Engineering Laboratory. Finland 2008.
- [94] (a) Bowery JA Solar updraft tower algae biosphere 2006. Available at: < http://www.solar-tower.org.uk/other-variants.php>; (b) Rohatensky RJ. 2006. The solar heat pump electrical generation system (SHPEGS). Available at: < http://www.solar-tower.org.uk/bi-directional-rohatensky.php>.
- [95] House KZ, Baclig AC, Ranjan M, van Nierop EA, Wilcox J, Herzog HJ. Economic and energetic analysis of capturing CO<sub>2</sub> from ambient air. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2011;108:20428–33.
- [96] Rudolf JC Physicist group's study raises doubts on capturing carbon dioxide from air. New York Times, 9 May 2011. Available at: < http://www.nytimes. com/2011/05/10/science/earth/10carbon.html?\_r=1&>.
- [97] Holmes G, Keith DW. An air-liquid contactor for large-scale capture of CO<sub>2</sub> from air. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series A 2012;370:4380–403.
- [98] Kulkarni AR, Sholl DS. Analysis of equilibrium-based TSA processes for direct capture of CO<sub>2</sub> from air. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2012;51:8631–45.
- [99] Desmond MJ BP Technologies Venture Inc. ISEEE DAC summit, Calgary, March 7th 2012.
- [100] U.S. government accountability office technology assessment on climate engineering: technical status, future directions, and potential responses. Report GAO-11-71, Jul. 2011. Available at: <a href="http://www.gao.gov/assets/330/322208.pdf">http://www.gao.gov/assets/ 330/322208.pdf</a>>.
- [101] McLaren D Negatonnes—an initial assessment of the potential for negative emissions techniques to contribute safely and fairly to meeting carbon budgets in the 21st century. Friends of the Earth. 2011. Available at: < http://www.foe.co.uk/resource/reports/negatonnes.pdf >.
- [102] The national enhanced oil recovery initiative (NEORI). Carbon dioxide enhanced oil recovery: a critical domestic energy, economic, and environmental opportunity. Feb. 2012. Available at: <a href="http://www.neori.org/neori\_report.pdf">http://www.neori.org/neori.report.pdf</a>).
- [103] Wang T. Fuel synthesis with CO<sub>2</sub> captured from atmosphere: thermodynamic analysis. ECS Transactions 2012;41:13–24.
- [104] Zeman FS, Keith DW. Carbon neutral hydrocarbons. Philosophical Transactions A Mathematics Physics and Engineering Science 2008;366(1882): 3901–18.
- [105] Arakawa H, Aresta M, Armor JN, Barteau MA, Beckman EJ, Bell AT, et al. Catalysis research of relevance to carbon management: progress, challenges, and opportunities. Chemical Reviews 2001;101(4):953–96.
- [106] Centi G, Perathoner S. Opportunities and prospects in the chemical recycling of carbon dioxide to fuels. Catalysis Today 2009;148(3–4):191–205.
- [107] Jiang Z, Xiao T, Kuznetsov VL, Edwards PP. Turning carbon dioxide into fuel. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series A 2010;368(1923):3343–64.
- [108] Song C, Gaffney AM, Fujimoto K editors. CO<sub>2</sub> conversion and utilization. ACS symposium series no. 809, 428 p, Am Chem Soc, Washington DC USA 2002.
- [109] Mikkelsen M, Jørgensen M, Krebs FC. The teraton challenge. A review of fixation and transformation of carbon dioxide. Energy & Environmental Science 2010;3:43–81.
- [110] Song C. Global challenges and strategies for control, conversion and utilization of  $CO_2$  for sustainable development involving energy, catalysis, adsorption and chemical processing. Catalysis Today 2006;115:2–32.
- [111] Graves C, Ebbesen SD, Mogensen M, Lackner KS. Sustainable hydrocarbon fuels by recycling CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O with renewable or nuclear energy. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2011;15:1–23.

- [112] Basha KA, Samuel ARJ, Kumar S. 100% free global warming. International Journal of Computers and Applications 2010;1(15):50–3.
- [113] Centi G, Perathoner S. Towards solar fuels from water and CO<sub>2</sub>. Chem-SusChem 2010;3(2):195–208.
- [114] Hirota K, Tryk DA, Hashimoto K, Okawa M, Fujishima A. Photoelectrochemical reduction of highly concentrated CO<sub>2</sub> in methanol solution. Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis 1998;114:589–92.
- [115] Ganesh I. Conversion of carbon dioxide to methanol using solar energy—a brief review. Materials Sciences and Applications 2011;2:1407–15.
- [116] Maeda K. Photocatalytic water splitting using semiconductor particles: history and recent developments. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology C: Photochemistry Reviews 2011;12:237–68.
- [117] Abe R. Recent progress on photocatalytic and photoelectrochemical water splitting under visible light irradiation. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology C: Photochemistry Reviews 2010;11(4):179–209.
- [118] Fujishima A, Honda K. Electrochemical photolysis of water at a semiconductor electrode. Nature 1972;238:37–8.
- [119] Ni M, Leung MKH, Leung DYC, Sumathy K. A review and recent developments in photocatalytic water-splitting using TiO<sub>2</sub> for hydrogen production. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 2007;11(3):401–25.
- [120] Li K, Martin D, Tang J. Conversion of solar energy to fuels by inorganic heterogeneous systems. Chinese Journal of Catalysis 2011;32(6): 879–90.
- [121] Thampi KR, Kiwi J, Graetzel M. Methanation and photo-methanation of carbon-dioxide at room-temperature and atmospheric-pressure. Nature 1987;327:506–8.
- [122] Anpo M, Chiba K. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> on anchored titaniumoxide catalysts. Journal of Molecular Catalysis 1992;74:207–12.
- [123] Anpo M, Yamashita H, Ichihashi Y, Ehara S. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O on various titanium oxide catalysts. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry 1995;396(1–2):21–6.
- [124] Wu JCS. Renewable energy from the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O. In: Anpo M, Kamat P, editors. Environmentally benign photocatalysts: applications of titanium oxide-based materials (Nanostructure science & technology). Springer; 2010 Chapter 28.
- [125] Roy SC, Varghese OK, Paulose M, Grimes CA. Toward solar fuels: photocatalytic conversion of carbon dioxide to hydrocarbons. ACS Nano 2010;4(3):1259–78.
- [126] Usubharatana P, McMartin D, Veawab A, Tontiwachwuthikul P. Photocatalytic process for CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction from industrial flue gas streams. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2006;45(8):2558–68.
- [127] Magesh G, Viswanathan B, Viswanath RP, Varadarajan TK. Photocatalytic routes for chemicals, 37p. In: Kaneco S, Viswanathan B, Katsumata H, editors. Photo/electrochemistry & photobiology in the environment, energy and fuel. Kerala, India: Research Signpost; 2007 Chapter 11.
- [128] Indrakanti VP, Kubicki JD, Schobert HH. Photoinduced activation of CO<sub>2</sub> on Ti-based heterogeneous catalysts: current state, chemical physics-based insights and outlook. Energy & Environmental Science 2009;2:745–58.
- [129] Kočí K, Obalová L, Lacný Z. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> over TiO<sub>2</sub> based catalysts. Chemical Papers 2008;62(1):1–9.
- [130] Kočí K, Obalová L, Plachá D, Lacný Z. Effect of temperature, pressure and volume of reacting phase on photocatalytic CO<sub>2</sub> reduction on suspended nanocrystalline TiO<sub>2</sub>. Collection of Czechoslovak Chemical Communications 2008;73:1192–204.
- [131] Zhang QH, Han WD, Hong YJ, Yu JG. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with  $H_2O$  on Pt-loaded TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Catalysis Today 2009;148:335–40.
- [132] Slamet Nasution HW, Purnama E, Riyani K, Gunlazuardi J. Effect of copper species in a photocatalytic synthesis of methanol from carbon dioxide over copper-doped titania catalysts. World Applied Sciences Journal 2009;6(1): 112–22.
- [133] Li Y, Wang WN, Zhan Z, Woo MH, Wu CY, Biswas P. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O on mesoporous silica supported Cu/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2010;100:386–92.
- [134] Maeda K, Masanobu Higashi M, Daling Lu D, Abe R, Domen K. Efficient nonsacrificial water splitting through two-step photoexcitation by visible light using a modified oxynitride as a hydrogen evolution photocatalyst. Journal of the American Chemical Society 2010;132:5858–68.
- [135] Sasirekha N, Basha SJS, Shanthi K. Photocatalytic performance of Ru doped anatase mounted on silica for reduction of carbon dioxide. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2006;62:169–80.
- [136] Kocí K, Mateju K, Obalová L, Krejcíková S, Lacny Z, Plachá D, Capek L, Hospodková A, Solcová O. Effect of silver doping on the  $TiO_2$  for photocatalytic reduction of  $CO_2$ . Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2010;96:239–44.
- [137] (a) Alfano OM, Cassano AE Chapter 7. Scaling-up of photoreactors: applications to advanced oxidation processes. p 229–288. and (b) Paz Y Chapter 8. Photocatalytic treatment of air: from basic aspects to reactors. p289–336. In: De Lasa HI, Serrano Rosales B editors. Elsevier and Academic Press. Advances in Chemical Engineering, 2009.
- [138] Ogura K, Kawano M, Yano J, Sakata Y. Visible-light-assisted decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O and photomethanation of CO<sub>2</sub> over CeO<sub>2</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 1992;66(1):91–7.
- [139] Kaneco S, Kurimoto H, Ohta K, Mizuno T, Saji A. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using TiO<sub>2</sub> powders in liquid CO<sub>2</sub> medium. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 1997;109(1):59–63.
- [140] Kaneco S, Shimizu Y, Ohta K, Mizuno T. Photocatalytic reduction of high pressure carbon dioxide using TiO<sub>2</sub> powders with a positive hole scavenger.

Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 1998;115(3): 223-6.

- [141] Kaneco S, Kurimoto H, Shimizu y, Ohta K, Mizuno T. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using TiO<sub>2</sub> powders in supercritical fluid CO<sub>2</sub>. Energy 1999;24:21–30.
- [142] Tseng IH, Chang WC, Wu JCS. Photoreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using sol-gel derived titania and titania-supported copper catalysts. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2002;37:37–48.
- [143] Guan G, Kida T, Harada T, Isayama M, Yoshida A. Photoreduction of carbon dioxide with water over K<sub>2</sub>Ti<sub>6</sub>O<sub>13</sub> photocatalyst combined with Cu/ZnO catalyst under concentrated sunlight. Applied Catalysis A: General 2003;249:11–8.
- [144] Dey GR, Belapurkar AD, Kishore K. Photo-catalytic reduction of carbon dioxide to methane using TiO<sub>2</sub> as suspension in water. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 2004;163:503–8.
- [145] Tseng IH, Wu JCS, Chou HY. Effects of sol gel procedures on the photocatalysis of Cu/TiO<sub>2</sub> in CO<sub>2</sub> photoreduction. Journal of Catalysis 2004;221: 432–40.
- [146] Yahaya AH, Gondal MA, Hameed A. Selective laser enhanced photocatalytic conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> into methanol. Chemical Physics Letters 2004;400:206–12.
- [147] Wu JCS, Lin HM. Photo reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> to methanol via TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalyst. International Journal of Photoenergy 2005;7:115–9.
- [148] Slamet Nasution HW, Purnama E, Kosela S, Gunlazuardi J. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> on copper-doped titania catalysts prepared by improvedimpregnation method. Catalysis Communications 2005;6:313–9.
- [149] Slamet Nasution HW, Purnama E, Riyani K, Gunlazuardi J. Effect of copper species in a photocatalytic synthesis of methanol from carbon dioxide over copper-doped titania catalysts. World Applied Sciences Journal 2009;6(1): 112–22.
- [150] Sasirekha N, Basha SJS, Shanthi K. Photocatalytic performance of Ru doped anatase mounted on silica for reduction of carbon dioxide. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2006;62:169–80.
- [151] Nishimura A, Sugiura N, Fujita M, Kato S, Kato S. Influence of preparation conditions of coated TiO<sub>2</sub> film on CO<sub>2</sub> reforming performance. Kagaku Kogaku Ronbunshu 2007;33(2):146–53.
- [152] Nishimura A, Sugiura N, Fujita M, Kato S, Kato S. CO<sub>2</sub>-reforming performance of coated TiO<sub>2</sub> film with supported metal. Kagaku Kogaku Ronbunshu 2007;33(5): 432–8.
- [153] Sugiura N, Nishimura A, Kato S, Kato S. Photocatalyst sol-gel multi layers film for high yield CO<sub>2</sub> conversion into CH<sub>4</sub>. Asian Pacific Confederation of Chemical Engineering Congress Program and Abstracts 2004:1025–35.
- [154] Nishimura A, Mitsui G, Hirota M, Hu E. CO<sub>2</sub> reforming performance and visible light responsibility of Cr-doped TiO<sub>2</sub> prepared by ol-gel and dipcoating method. International Journal of Chemical Engineering 2010:9 Article ID309103.
- [155] Tan SS, Zou L, Hu E. Kinetic modelling for photosynthesis of hydrogen and methane through catalytic reduction of carbon dioxide with water vapour. Catalysis Today 2008;131:125–9.
- [156] Varghese OK, Paulose M, LaTempa TJ, Grimes CA. High-rate solar photocatalytic conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> and water vapor to hydrocarbon fuels. Nano Letters 2009;9:731–7.
- [157] Wang C, Thompson RL, Baltrus J, Matranga C. Visible light photoreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using CdSe/Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> heterostructured catalysts. Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters 2010;1(1):48–53.
- [158] Wang ZY, Chou HC, Wu JCS, Tsai DP, Mul G. CO<sub>2</sub> photoreduction using NiO/ InTaO<sub>4</sub> in optical-fiber reactor for renewable energy. Applied Catalysis A: General 2010;380:172–7.
- [159] Xue LM, Zhang FH, Fan HJ, Bai XF. Preparation of C doped TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalysts and their photocatalytic reduction of carbon dioxide. Advances in Materials Research 2011;183–185:1842–6.
- [160] Anpo M, Yamashita H, Ichihashi Y, Ehara S. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O on various titanium oxide catalysts. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry 1995;396(1–2):21–6.
- [161] Saladin F, Alxneit I. Temperature dependence of the photochemical reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O at the solid/gas interface of TiO<sub>2</sub>. Journal of the Chemical Society, Faraday Transactions 1997;93(23):4159–63.
- [162] Yang X, Xiao T, Edwards PP. The use of products from CO<sub>2</sub> photoreduction for improvement of hydrogen evolution in water splitting. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy 2011;36(11):6546–52.
- [163] Matthews RW, McEvoy SR. A comparison of 254 nm and 350 nm excitation of TiO<sub>2</sub> in simple photocatalytic reactors. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 1992;66(3):355-66.
- [164] Koci K, Zatloukalova, Obalova L, Krejcikova S, Lacny Z, Cappel LA, et al. Wavelength effect on photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> by Ag/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Chinese Journal of Catalysis 2011;32(5):812–5.
- [165] Wang C, Thompson RL, Baltrus J, Matranga C. Visible light photoreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using CdSe/Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> heterostructured catalysts. Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters 2010;1:48–53.
- [166] Zhang Q, Li Y, Ackerman EA, Gajdardziska-Josifovska M, Li H. Visible light responsive iodine-doped TiO<sub>2</sub> for photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> to fuels. Applied Catalysis A: General 2011;400(1–2):195–202.
- [167] Ogura K, Kawano M, Yano J, Sakata Y. Visible-light-assisted decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O and photomethanation of CO<sub>2</sub> over CeO<sub>2</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry 1992;66(1):91–7.
- [168] Qin W, Zhang D, Zhao D, Lili Wang L, Zheng K. Near-infrared photocatalysis based on YF<sub>3</sub>:Yb<sup>3+</sup>,Tm<sup>3+</sup>/TiO<sub>2</sub> core/shell nanoparticles. Chemical Communications 2010;46:2304–6.

- [169] Dimitrijevic NM, Vijayan BK, Poluektov OG, Rajh T, Gray KA, He H, et al. Role of water and carbonates in photocatalytic transformation of CO<sub>2</sub> to CH<sub>4</sub> on Titania. Journal of the American Chemical Society 2011;133(11): 3964–71.
- [170] Dhakshinamoorthy A, Navalon S, Corma A, Garcia H. Photocatalytic CO<sub>2</sub> reduction by TiO<sub>2</sub> and related titanium containing solids. Energy & Environmental Science 2012. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C2EE21948D</u> Advance Article.
- [171] Mori K, Hiromi Yamashita H, Anpo M. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>O on various titanium oxide photocatalysts. RSC Advances 2012;2:3165–72.
- [172] Izumi Y. Recent advances in the photocatalytic conversion of carbon dioxide to fuels with water and/or hydrogen using solar energy and beyond. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.04.</u> 018, in press (Available online 19 April 2012).
- [173] Tachibana Y, Vayssieres L, Durrant JR. Artificial photosynthesis for solar water-splitting. Nature Photonics 2012;6:511–8.
- [174] Mallouk TE. The emerging technology of solar fuels. Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters 2010;1:2738–9.
- [175] Grills DC, Fujita E. New directions for the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>: supramolecular, scCO<sub>2</sub>, or biphasic ionic liquid-scCO<sub>2</sub> systems. Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters 2010;1:2709–18.
- [176] Pichat P, Disdier J, Hoang-Van C, Mas D, Goutailler G, Gaysse C. Purification/ deodorization of indoor air and gaseous effluents by TiO<sub>2</sub> photocatalysis. Catalysis Today 2000;63:363–9.
- [177] Mo J, Zhang Y, Xu Q, Lamson JJ, Zhao R. Photocatalytic purification of volatile organic compounds in indoor air: a literature review. Atmospheric Environment 2009;43(14):2229–46.
- [178] Ibusuki T. Cleaning atmospheric environment. In: Kaneko M, Okura I M, editors. Photocatalysis: science and technology. Tokyo: Springler, Kodansha Ltd.; 2002. p. 356 p 123–159.
- [179] Malato S, Blanco J, Vidal A, Richter C. Photocatalysis with solar energy at a pilot-plant scale: an overview. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2002;37:1–15.
- [180] Blanco J, Malato S, Fernandez-Ibanez P, Alarcon D, Gernjak W, Maldonado M. Review of feasible solar energy applications to water processes. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2009;13(6-7):1437-45.
- [181] Zapata A, Oller I, Sirtori C, Rodríguez A, Sánchez-Pérez JA, López A, et al. Decontamination of industrial wastewater containing pesticides by combining large-scale homogeneous solar photocatalysis and biological treatment. Chemical Engineering Journal 2010;160(2):447–56.
- [182] Braham RJ, Harris AT. Review of major design and scale-up considerations for solar photocatalytic reactors. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research 2009;48(19):8890–905.
- [183] Takeda H, Koike K, Inoue H, Ishitani O. Development of an efficient photocatalytic system for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction using rhenium(I) complexes based on mechanistic studies. Journal of the American Chemical Society 2008;130(6):2023–31.
- [184] Ichikawa S, Doi R. Photoelectrocatalytic hydrogen production from water on transparent thin film titania of different crystal structures and quantum efficiency characteristics. Thin Solid Films 1997;292(1–2):130–4.
- [185] Ichikawa S, Doi R. Hydrogen production from water and conversion of carbon dioxide to useful chemicals by room temperature photoelectrocatalysis. Catalysis Today 1996;27(1–2):271–7.
- [186] Yahaya AH, Gondal MA, Hameed A. Selective laser enhanced photocatalytic conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> into methanol. Chemical Physics Letters 2004;400: 206–12.
- [187] Wu JCS, Wu TH, Chu T, Huang H, Tsai D. Application of optical-fiber photoreactor for  $CO_2$  photocatalytic reduction. Topics in Catalysis 2008;47:131–6.
- [188] Pathak P, Meziani MJ, Li Y, Cureton LT, Sun YP. Improving photoreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> with homogeneously dispersed nanoscale TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts. Chemical Communications 2004;10(10):1234–5.
- [189] Pathak P, Meziani MJ, Castillo L, Sun YP. Metal-coated nanoscale  $TiO_2$  catalysts for enhanced  $CO_2$  photoreduction. Green Chemistry 2005;7: 667–70.
- [190] (a) Teramura K, Tsuneoka H, Shishido T, Tanaka T. Effect of H<sub>2</sub> gas as a reductant on photoreduction of  $CO_2$  over a  $Ga_2O_3$  photocatalyst. Chemical Physics Letters 2008;467:191–4;
  - (b) Tsuneoka H, Teramura K, Shishido T, Tanaka T. Study on adsorbed species of CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub> on Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for the photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>. Journal of Physical Chemistry C 2010;114(19):8892–8.
- [191] Liu JY, Bhaskar Garg B, Ling YC. Cu<sub>x</sub>Ag<sub>y</sub>In<sub>z</sub>Zn<sub>k</sub>S<sub>m</sub> solid solutions customized with RuO<sub>2</sub> or Rh<sub>1.32</sub>Cr<sub>0.66</sub>O<sub>3</sub> co-catalyst display visible light-driven catalytic activity for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction to CH<sub>3</sub>OH. Green Chemistry 2011;13:2029–31.
- [192] Teramura K, Okuoka S-I, Tsuneoka H, Shishido T, Tanaka T. Photocatalytic reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> using H<sub>2</sub> as reductant over ATaO<sub>3</sub> photocatalysts (A=Li, Na, K). Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2010;96(3–4):565–8.
- [193] Egerton TA, Tooley IR. Effect of changes in  $TiO_2$  dispersion on its measured photocatalytic activity. Journal of Physical Chemistry B 2004;108(16): 5066–72.
- [194] Zhang Y, Yang R, Zhao R. A model for analyzing the performance of photocatalytic air cleaner in removing volatile organic compounds. Atmospheric Environment 2003;37:3395–9.

- [195] Kočí K, Reli M, Kozák O, Lacný Z, Plachá D, Praus P, et al. Influence of reactor geometry on the yield of CO<sub>2</sub> photocatalytic reduction. Catalysis Today 2011;176(1):212–4.
- [196] Paz Y. Composite titanium dioxide photocatalysts and the Adsorb & Shuttle approach: a review. Solid State Phenomena 2010;162:135–62.
- [197] Sharabi D, Paz Y. Preferential photodegradation of contaminants by molecular imprinting on titanium dioxide. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental 2010;95:169–78.
- [198] Alfano OM, Bahnemann D, Cassano AE, Dillert R, Goslich R. Photocatalysis in water environments using artificial and solar light. Catalysis Today 2000;58:199–230.
- [199] Goeppert A, Czaun M, Prakash GKS, Olah GA. Air as the renewable carbon source of the future: an overview of CO<sub>2</sub> capture from the atmosphere. Energy & Environmental Science 2012;5:7833–53.
- [200] Pearson RJ, Eisaman MD, Turner JWG, Edwards PP, Jiang Z, Kuznetsov VL, et al. Taylor SRG. Energy storage via carbon-neutral fuels made from CO<sub>2</sub>, water, and renewable energy. Proceedings of the IEEE 2012;100:440–60.
- [201] Mul G, Schacht C, van Swaaij WPM, Moulijn JA. Functioning devices for solar to fuel conversion. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification 2012;51:137–49.
- [202] (a) Licht S. Efficient solar-driven synthesis, carbon capture, and desalinization, STEP: solar thermal electrochemical production of fuels, metals, bleach. Licht S Advanced Materials 2011;23:5592–612;
  - (b) Licht S. STEP (Solar thermal electrochemical photo) generation of energetic molecules: a Solar Chemical process to end anthropogenic global warming. Journal of Physical Chemistry C 2009;113(36): 16283–92;
  - (c) Licht S, Wang B, Wu H. STEP—a solar chemical process to end anthropogenic global warming. II: Experimental results. Journal of Physical Chemistry C 2011;115(23):11803–21.
- [203] Prakash T, Marin-Flores OG, Cantrell T, Norton MG, Mcllroy DN, Corti G Carbon capture and recycling by photocatalysts supported on silica nanosprings. Available at: <a href="http://gonano-technologies.com/wp-content/uploads/2010/01/Carbon-Capture-Recycle-Cleantech\_2011.pdf">http://gonano-technologies.com/wp-content/ uploads/2010/01/Carbon-Capture-Recycle-Cleantech\_2011.pdf</a>). Eleventh international conference on carbon dioxide utilization – ICCDU XI – June 27–30, 2011, Dijon-France.

- [204] 2010, the US Department of Energy announced the selection of the joint center for artificial photosynthesis (JCAP), a team led by the California Institute of Technology (Caltech), to run the fuels from sunlight energy innovation hub. Press release available at: <htp://energy.gov/articles/ california-team-receive-122-million-energy-innovation-hub-develop-me thod-produce-fuelsJCAP > will be located in two California-based sites, operated under a unified management structure. JCAP partners include Caltech, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, the SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, UC Berkeley, UC Santa Barbara, UC Irvine, and UC San Diego. The Hub will be funded at up to \$22 million this fiscal year and then at an estimated \$25 million per year for the next four years (up to \$122 Million), subject to Congressional appropriations.
- $\label{eq:205} \mbox{ American energy independence, CO}_2 \mbox{ Recycling, available at: $ http://www. americanenergyindependence.com/recycleco2.aspx}.$
- [206] Ampelli C, Centi G, Passalacqua R, Perathoner S. Synthesis of solar fuels by a novel photoelectrocatalytic approach. Energy & Environmental Science 2010;3:292–301.
- [207] Perathoner S, Centi G, Gangeri M, Caudo S, Amadou J, Bégin D, Pham-Huu C, Ledoux MJ, Tessonnier JP, Su DS, Schlögl R. Synthesis for long-chain alcohols and hydrocarbons by CO<sub>2</sub> conversion using nanoconfined electrocatalysts. The results of ELCAT EU Project. Conference: carbon dioxide: a waste, a raw material. Fate or Opportunity. Toulouse, France 16–17 December 2008.
- [208] Sumida K, Rogow DL, Mason JA, McDonald TM, Bloch ED, Herm ZR, et al. Carbon dioxide capture in metal-organic frameworks. Chemical Reviews 2012;112(2):724–81.
- [209] McDonald TM, Lee WR, Mason JA, Wiers BM, Hong CS, Long JR. Capture of carbon dioxide from air and flue gas in the alkylamine-appended metalorganic framework mmen-Mg2 (dobpdc). Journal of the American Chemical Society 2012;134:7056–65.
- [210] Eisenberger P Carbon dioxide capture and regeneration devices and techniques, 2012, US patents numbers 0174780, 0174778, 0174779, 0174781, 0167764, 8262774, 8246723, 8221527, 8163066.
- [211] Polak RB, Steinberg M Carbon dioxide removal systems. US patent 2012/ 0003722.